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Abbreviations used in this report
A&E

accident and emergency

ACP

Advanced clinical practitioner

AEDB

A&E Delivery Board

AF

atrial fibrillation

AGC

Audit and Governance Committee

AGS

Annual Governance Statement

ARB

Ambulance Response Programme

BHR

Barking and Dagenham, Havering and Redbridge

BHRUT

Barking Havering and Redbridge University Hospitals NHS Trust

CCG

Clinical Commissioning Group

CQC

Care Quality Commission

CQRG

Clinical Quality Review Group

CQRM

Contract and Quality Review Meetings

CETV

cash equivalent transfer value

CYP

children and young people

DHSC

Department of Health and Social Care

ELHCP

East London Health and Care Partnership

EPPR

emergency preparedness, resilience and response

F&D

Finance and Delivery

FEP

first episode of psychosis

FFT

friends and family test

FRPB

Financial Recovery Programme Board

FRPDM

Financial Recovery Performance Delivery Monitoring

GB

Governing Body

HWB

Health and Wellbeing Board

IAPT

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies

ICO

Information Commissioners Office

ICP

Integrated Care Partnership

ICPB

Integrated Care Partnership Board

ICS

Integrated Care System

IPC

Infection Prevention Committee
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IG

information governance

JC

Joint Committee

JCC

Joint Commissioning Committee

JCAF

joint committee assurance framework

JCB

Joint Commissioning Board

JHWS

joint health and wellbeing strategy

JSNA

joint strategic needs assessment

LAS

London Ambulance Service

LD

learning disability

LTP

Long Term Plan

MHIS

Mental Health Investment Standard

MRSA

Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (a type of bacteria that is widely
resistant to antibiotics)

MSA

mixed-sex accommodation

NEL

north east London

NELCA

North East London Commissioning Alliance

NELFT

NELFT NHS Foundation Trust

NHSE

NHS England

NHSI

NHS Improvement

NICE

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence

PCN

Primary Care Network

PEF

Patient Engagement Forum

PPI

patient and public involvement

QI

quality improvement

QOF

Quality Outcomes Framework

QIPP

quality, innovation, productivity and prevention (a large-scale transformation
programme which aims to deliver a better quality service for less money)

RTT

referral to treatment time

STP

Sustainability and Transformation Partnership

TCST

Transforming Cancer Services Team

UEC

urgent and emergency care

WEL

Waltham Forest and East London (includes Newham and Tower Hamlets)

WELC

as above plus City and Hackney
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A1 Performance Overview
A1 (1) Accountable Officer’s perspective on performance
Introduction
This year has been dominated by the Covid-19 pandemic and the most challenging since the
establishment of the CCG. Our focus has rightly been on responding to the pandemic, beginning to
recover during the summer and more recently responding to the winter surge and vaccine roll-out.
This annual report is prepared against this backdrop. In line with NHS England guidance which
recognises the impact on NHS organisations and staff. This report covers the core requirements and
omits the more detailed optional performance analysis, focusing on our progress in regard to the
following:
•
•
•

Section 14R Duty as to the improvement in quality of services (see p5)
Section 14T Duties relating to reducing inequalities (see p12)
Section 14Z2 Public involvement and consultation (see p14)

Overview of the year
2020-21 was and continues to be the most challenging year the health and care system has ever had to
contend with. As well as managing the health service response to Covid-19 2021 has been an
extraordinary year with the pandemic shining a light on the true extent of health inequality in our
population. Many of our boroughs have high levels of deprivation and inequality, with more than 50% of
our population identifying as Black, Asian and minority ethnic. Three of our seven CCGs are in the 20
most deprived in England and one, Newham, is the most diverse borough in the country. More broadly
the strength of feeling demonstrated in movements nationally such as Black Lives Matter coupled with
the findings of national NHS staff survey and workforce, race, equality standard reports, show how
much more we have to do to address historic inequalities for both our population and our workforce.
We began rolling out the biggest immunisation programme in NHS history in December and have been
administering tens of thousands of vaccines every day to our population. This is an incredible
achievement and the details of the north east London vaccination programme can be found on page 8.
More than ever before we have needed to draw on our strength and experience across north east
London to respond to the pandemic, to learn from it and to ensure that despite our challenges, we
continue to provide essential healthcare for our population.
Tower Hamlets CCG is one of seven across north east London (NEL), which came together on 1 April
2021 to form a single CCG. As seven CCGs in 2020/21, we have worked together and with our NHS
partners across north east London, for example redeploying staff and providing mutual aid to provide
care for patients and since the vaccine rollout, working with the community to increase uptake of the
vaccine. We have also remained committed to supporting local people through training, volunteering
opportunities and education to support the recovery of our local economies and as an organisation we
have invested in our approach to equality, diversity and inclusion to ensure our workforce is supported
to thrive.
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One approach we are committed to is how we can utilise our role in the NHS as an anchor institution.
Working with our partners we will be developing a range of measures to tackle local socio-economic
conditions and underlying drivers for poor health and health inequalities in our communities.
Our NEL Anchor charter seeks to establish a commitment to redressing inequalities highlighted by the
pandemic. Partners across NEL have agreed to collaborate more on widening access to employment,
training and a better working experience, maximising the social value of our buildings and land, and
supporting a greener and healthier future.
Given the need to pause elective services during the winter wave of Covid-19, it is now a top priority for
us to ensure we address those patients who have been waiting for a long time for their treatment. This
work had begun during the summer and is our focus now as capacity becomes available in our local
hospitals. This will form a significant part of our operating plan for the coming year, which will also
include our plans for supporting the health and wellbeing of staff, addressing the digital divide as we
continue to transform service delivery, expanding and improving mental health and services for people
with a learning disability.
Working together amid the challenges of the pandemic, our seven clinical commissioning groups and
our partners in north east London have also in the last 12 months made great strides towards becoming
an integrated care system (ICS) achieving official designation from NHS England and Improvement in
December 2020. This is an approach that will ensure we have the infrastructure we need to provide the
best health and care for our local populations.
We are strengthening our already established local partnerships and streamlining our clinical
commissioning group administrative and other functions into a new organisation – NHS NEL CCG from
1 April 2021. Following an overwhelming majority vote by our GPs in favour of creating one CCG for
north east London, good progress has been made to develop a clinically-led organisation informed by
local people and patients, with strong clinical leadership and a GP voice at all levels.
2020-21 has been a challenging year for all of us, but as our seven CCGs come together as one, we
are united in our aim to ensure that everyone has equal opportunity to access high-quality healthcare
as we continue to respond to the challenges of Covid-19 and the opportunities beyond.

A1 (2) The purpose, activities and objectives of the CCG
Responding to the coronavirus pandemic
From 2020 like all of the NHS, the CCG has faced unprecedented challenges and changes to the way
we work in response to the Covid-19 pandemic. Working with our members, partners, and fellow
London ICSs we have focused our business and resources in working together to manage our
response across north east London. This has included implementing national guidance and policy, and
ensuring the necessary extensive local support and infrastructure is in place across primary care to
support our population. Our overriding objective has been to respond to the pandemic, begin to recover
and restart elective and other services as well as rollout the vaccination programme. This has impacted
on the usual corporate objectives for the CCG.
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A1 (3) Our performance
As a CCG we have a duty to do whatever we can to secure continuous improvements in the quality of
services provided to local people.
Quality covers a range of aspects including how effective services are, how safe they are and patients’
experience of the care they receive.
Our focus this year has been to respond to the pandemic and to ensure that patients are able to receive
any essential or urgent care they need. We have done this by working closely with our partners on the
way local services have been organised, care delivered and information shared.
2020-21 has seen our seven CCGs and partners in health and social care respond quickly to the
pandemic and make sure we continued to deliver our health and care services in the best way possible.
At the same time, we needed to know that any changes we were making in response to Covid-19 were
having the best possible impact for local people under challenging circumstances.
We achieved this in a number of ways, such as working with our primary care colleagues to develop a
‘total triage’ model for general practice. Changing ways of working as a result of Covid-19 means
patients can engage with services in many more ways: online, telephone and video, as well as face to
face when needed.
There’s a really positive approach to collaborative working among health and social care partners: GPs,
community services such as mental health services, adult social care and our colleagues in acute care
are increasingly looking at ways we can integrate services.
This has given us an opportunity to build truly integrated, seamless healthcare centred on people’s
needs, rather than around arbitrary organisational boundaries. For example, we now have an alliance
across NEL which brings together Barts Health NHS Trust, Homerton University Hospital Foundation
Trust and Barking, Havering and Redbridge University Hospitals NHS Trust focused on a joined up
approach and strategy for acute services.
Our partnerships in mental health services have seen us introduce individual placement and support
services, providing tailored support including job placements and guidance for both employers and
employees.
We are also working together in maternity services across the patch, as the East London Local
Maternity System. Our midwives now have a choice of where to work, opting to take shifts at any of our
five maternity units. We have made good progress in ensuring more choice and control for women and
their families and increasing the number of personalised care plans for vulnerable women.
Another focus over the last year has been improving services for people with long-term conditions – for
example, we are working together to improve prevention of diabetes through improved education and
training. And we are working together to improve services for older people. For example we now have
joined up multi-disciplinary teams consisting of physiotherapists, occupational therapists, social workers
and consultant geriatricians.
Social prescribing is at the heart of primary care throughout north east London and, along with our local
authorities, we jointly employ social prescribing link workers across the patch.
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Our quality teams play a key role in ensuring that the providers we commission deliver safe and highquality services. Their roles have been impacted this year: many of our quality staff are qualified nurse
or health professionals and were redeployed to the frontline in local acute, mental health, community
and primary care services to provide urgent support where it was needed most.
Here are some examples of what our staff did to support the response:
•

•

•
•

•

•

A junior project manager for NEL Cancer Alliance was redeployed to support discharge at Royal
London Hospital. The role involved supporting two wards to determine which patients were
medically and functionally fit for discharge. Supporting the discharge process helped alleviate
staff shortages at the hospital.
A staff engagement and wellbeing officer for Barking and Dagenham, Havering and Redbridge
(BHR) CCGs was redeployed to help support the distribution of emergency Personal Protective
Equipment (PPE) across north east London. The role involved managing PPE requests based
on guidelines and sharing data with the logistics team to distribute the vital equipment.
Strategic Estates Manager for Tower Hamlets CCG volunteered to help support the task of
working to develop the PPE supply line across north east London.
A senior nurse in quality assurance and continuing healthcare for BHR CCGs was redeployed to
support the Infection Prevention and Control Team at NELFT. The role involved providing
support and advice to nursing and residential homes and community providers on infection
control during the pandemic.
A children’s safeguarding nurse for Newham, Tower Hamlets and Waltham Forest (WEL) CCGs
was redeployed to the NHS Nightingale Hospital. This role involved setting up a safeguarding
team, identifying and mitigating safeguarding risks and supporting staff where there were
safeguarding concerns.
Staff were redeployed to provide infection prevention guidance, advice and support to services
for WEL's most vulnerable residents.

We have also worked closely with a wide range of partners including local authorities, charities and
others to establish where our resources are most effective, such as in providing support and care to
rough sleepers.
We regularly shared information on local services, encouraging people to contact their GP if they have
any concerns about their health and to attend any appointments they are invited to. We have a range of
advice, support and resources across all local channels (including websites, newsletters and social
media) and have co-ordinated activity with partners to ensure our messages are communicated as
widely as possible.
Local clinicians developed videos aimed at providing reassurance to patients and the public, and we
produced extensive information on Covid-19 for our communities in a variety of languages and targeted
for specific groups (such as cancer patients, pregnant women, parents of young children, mental health
patients and people with a learning disability or autism). A public-facing bulletin was developed early in
the pandemic and is shared regularly across north east London to help keep local people informed
about health and care services and how they can stay well and keep safe, in addition to extensive
information and advice available on the North East London Health and Care Partnership (NEL HCP)
website.
CCGs and local GPs have regularly briefed local stakeholders on our response to the pandemic. This
has included joint attendance with our NHS partners at health overview and scrutiny committees, health
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and wellbeing boards, MP meetings and other local meetings to provide detailed updates and answer
questions, in addition to various written reports. We also produce and send a weekly stakeholder
briefing to over 650 stakeholders on how the NHS in north east London is responding to the pandemic
and how we are working together to further support our communities.

Primary care services
All of our GP practices now provide virtual consultations, including online and by phone. People who
cannot access online services can call to be given a consultation, and those who find it hard to contact
the practice in working hours can access this care 24 hours a day.
We have set up processes, systems and decision-making with clinical input to deliver high-quality and
safe primary care, including:
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

Triaging all patients by phone, online, or video; providing face-to-face consultations by exception
Hot hubs (spaces where only Covid-19 patients are seen) in each borough with hot and cold
zones in some practices allowing other patients to be seen safely
Increased team working between GP practices and between primary and secondary care and
multidisciplinary care, to share staff and give mutual aid; to provide a more coordinated, flexible
and responsible workforce
Home monitoring and visiting service for Covid-19 symptomatic patients
Virtual ward rounds in care homes
New processes for childhood immunisations, one of which has been used as a national best
practice case study
Regular, timely and effective communications to practices.

The innovative approach taken by our practices during the pandemic means care is now tailored for
each patient who comes into contact with the practice. Telephone and video consultation can be the
most appropriate way to provide high-quality care for patients, and online triage gives patients greater
choice and better accessibility.

Covid-19 vaccination programme
The Covid-19 vaccination programme in north east London is complex and large-scale and has
provided vaccines for the most vulnerable in society. The order in which we vaccinated people was set
out by the Joint Committee on Vaccination and Immunisation (JCVI).
As of April 2021 the Covid-19 vaccination programme in north east London has given nearly 700,000
vaccinations. This is an incredible achievement and testament to everyone who worked so hard to get
the vaccine programme up and running.
Covid-19 has not affected everyone equally. We have worked with a range of organisations to develop
services for the most vulnerable and prioritised researching the causes of inequity so that we can take
preventative action to better protect groups of people such as low-paid workers, carers, staff and black,
Asian and minority ethnic communities.
To increase vaccine uptake we engaged with our local communities through online vaccine
engagement events. These events were run in partnership with our councils and other organisations
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across north east London. The events focused on a particular aspect of Covid-19 and the vaccine, and
provided a valuable source of information for anyone wanting to know more about vaccination.
These engagement events included meetings with interfaith leaders, Facebook live events, Q&A
sessions and other virtual events.
We ran a series of pop-up vaccination clinics in our community spaces across north east London as
part of efforts to encourage all eligible people to get their jab. In Tower Hamlets these included
vaccination sessions at mosques and other places of worship as well as ongoing vaccination at primary
care centres.
We posted over 40 videos featuring local people, faith leaders and NHS staff. The videos are designed
for a variety of communities, explaining the vaccine and the importance of having it. In addition the
ELHCP website frequently asked questions was regularly updated to provide further information and to
answer any queries about the vaccination programme.

Patient experience
Understanding the impact of the pandemic on our communities has been critical. To help us do this we
invested in a community insights system (CIS) developed by local Healthwatch organisations. The CIS
brings together data from a wide range of sources including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

NHS Choices
Patient opinion and google reviews
Healthwatch surveys
Website feedback
Enter and view feedback
Provider feedback such as surveys, PALS and complaints data
Thank you cards and compliments
Feedback from patient engagement projects carried out by the community and voluntary sector

We are able to use this data to quickly generate reports that compare and track how our local
population feel about their health and care services, which we can then respond to in our planning.

Cancer services
Keeping cancer services running
Throughout the pandemic, by working in collaboration with our providers and the independent sector,
we were able to keep vital cancer services running in all areas, including diagnostics and screening. We
were able to do this by creating a cancer hub at the London Independent Hospital, near the Royal
London Hospital. Here, we carried out colorectal, spinal and gynaecological (gynae) cancer surgery.
We also secured capacity at The London Clinic for complex cancer work including complex gynae,
interventional radiology, and complex colorectal. This short film shows the experience of an NHS
patient receiving treatment at The London Clinic: https://youtu.be/qtI5GGG-JEg

Keeping cancer patients safe
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We created green, Covid-19 protected zones in our main hospital sites so that we could continue to
treat cancer patients safely. We introduced a range of measures to protect against Covid-19, such as
temperature checks and testing pre-treatment.
This short film explains how we did this: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ZBayrSewju4

Talking to our communities
Catching cancer early is key, and we were concerned that patients weren’t coming forward with
symptoms because of fear of Covid-19. As well as supporting the national ‘Help Us Help You’ campaign
to let the public know we were open for business, we also undertook a number of initiatives across our
local communities to encourage people to come in and get their symptoms checked.
This included work to help tackle inequalities, such as engaging with local community groups (for
example, presenting at LGBTQ+ forums; working with the British Islamic Medical Association to support
the Muslim community; joint initiatives with the Learning Disabilities team to support people with
learning disabilities).
We also produced a short film to explain that ‘Cancer won’t wait for Covid’, which we shared through a
wide range of communications channels (also available with subtitles in Urdu, Bengali and Gujarati):
https://youtu.be/HxozV0ruXoI

Getting screening back on track
Across north east London, we sent out bowel screening invitations at 191% of the pre-Covid-19 rate to
clear the backlog. 100% of GP practices in NEL were also taking cervical samples as services were
fully restored. Samples received in the lab went up to 106% of pre-Covid-19 numbers. We also
launched a ‘self-sampling at home’ trial – called YouScreen - for cervical screening in Newham and
Tower Hamlets, which has been well received and generated a lot of media interest.
Work continued across London to restore breast screening to pre-Covid-19 levels, with a strong focus
on BAME communities and people with learning disabilities. We also produced an animated video to
encourage people to come in for breast screening, which is available in 15 different languages.

Increasing diagnostic capacity
We opened the Mile End Early Diagnosis Centre to increase endoscopy and ultrasound capacity. It is
expected to carry out around 16,500 procedures annually on patients from across north east London.
The Mile End Early Diagnosis Centre operates from 8am to 6pm, Monday to Friday, with a view to
extending this to the weekend, freeing up diagnostic capacity at local hospitals for those unable to
travel to Mile End and giving patients greater choice when booking their appointments following referral
by their GP.
We show the new facilities in a virtual tour: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=30HdpFJtl0M
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Personal Protective Equipment (PPE)
We set up a NEL Emergency PPE Hub from Whipps Cross Hospital to make sure organisations had the
PPE to keep staff safe. Since we opened in March 2020, we have delivered over 450,000 of emergency
PPE items to over 300 different organisations across north east London.
As part of the work undertaken at the start of the pandemic to get the PPE hub set up, we created a
new digital platform, so the team could see the PPE stock levels of organisations across north east
London. We did this in partnership with FutureGov and we were shortlisted for an HSJ Award in the
‘Driving Efficiency Through Technology’ category.
We used this experience to set up an emergency service to supply needles and syringes to vaccination
centres in north east London, should they encounter any shortages of these items.

Long Covid: rehabilitation services for local patients
NEL has played a leading role in supporting patients with long Covid, with the long Covid
clinic at Barking, Havering and Redbridge University Hospitals Trust attracting media attention.
The clinic is just part of a huge amount of work that has been undertaken across north east London to
support our local communities. We have created patient pathways which bring together services from
primary care, secondary care and community services, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Initial assessment and screening within primary care
Specialist multidisciplinary assessment clinics
Multidisciplinary single point of access for referrals
Community based multidisciplinary follow on service with access to rehabilitation and
community pathways including:
Specialist rehabilitation services
Psychological support
Social Care
Self-management and supporting digital tools

We also carried out modelling work across north east London to help predict demand for these services
to help us provide sufficient capacity. Our work across north east London has influenced the Londonwide model.
This work is a collaboration between our three hospital providers – Barts Health NHS Trust, Barking,
Havering and Redbridge University Hospitals Trust (BHRUT) and Homerton University Hospital – our
two mental health providers East London Foundation Trust (ELFT) and North East London Foundation
Trust (NELFT), our GPs, voluntary and community organisations, local authorities and commissioners
representing each local area across north east London.
We have worked on a consistent approach across north east London to managing long Covid, which is
combined with delivery at a local level so we can focus on local needs.

Mental Health
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Supporting our staff
To support our staff through these challenging times, we launched the KeepingWellNEL health and
wellbeing service. It is an easily accessible, culturally sensitive and confidential service. Anyone
working in north east London in the health and care sector (no matter what role) can access the
service.
The innovative, online support hub transforms traditional approaches to accessing health and wellbeing
support for employees in NEL by enabling confidential support through a single point of access. The
hub team is purposefully diverse and reflects the cultural richness of the north east London area.
People accessing the hub can choose to be supported by an individual of a similar or different ethnic
background.

Mental health summit
In September, we hosted an online mental health summit for over 200 people with a passion for mental
health for what was an enjoyable, thought-provoking and inspiring online event.
People with lived experiences shared their personal stories with health and care professionals,
providers, local authorities, voluntary and community organisations and commissioners to give a real
insight into some of the challenges we were facing in terms of mental health service provision,
particularly during the pandemic. The themes from the event – inequalities, innovation, access, training
and patient engagement – have helped shape our priorities and future work.

Supporting our children and young people
The North Central East London (NCEL) Children and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS)
Collaborative, which is a partnership of CAMHS acute providers across North East and North Central
London, secured funding as part of a London-wide programme to strengthen Child and Adolescent
Mental Health Service crisis and home treatment team responses into Emergency Departments.
We also promoted Kooth, an online service that gives children and young people, aged 11-19 years,
immediate access to a community of peers and a team of experienced, accredited counsellors. Access
is free of the typical barriers to support - no waiting times, no referrals, no thresholds to meet and
complete anonymity. The service is open for support 365 days per year, between 12pm-10pm on
weekdays, and 6pm-10pm on weekends and holidays. Kooth is available for all children and young
people in north east London via https://www.kooth.com/

Accessing mental health services
We continued to monitor access to therapeutic care to meet our planned Long Term Plan deliverables.
Covid-19 pandemic plans were put in place to ensure services were accessible and face to face
appointments are offered where clinically warranted.
We sent out reminders to local people of our local mental health support services for both adults and
children, including contact details and crisis lines.
We used expanded Crisis Resolution Home Treatment teams and crisis hubs to successfully reduce
demand for psychiatric beds at the height of the pandemic.
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Other activities included:
•
•
•
•
•
•

24/7 mental health helplines established to support Covid-19 to continue to operate with a view
to move to a national service in the future if funding allows.
IAPT (Improving Access to Psychological Therapies) services resumed fully following the first
wave of the pandemic.
Successful expansion of online delivery.
Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic Working Groups were established to identify and address the
differential impact of Covid-19.
Proactive review of all Community Mental Health Team (CMHT) caseloads to ensure
appropriate therapy and interventions were in place.
Developed alternatives to inpatient settings and treatment for people with a learning disability
and ensured care and treatment reviews always took place.

End of life care
We created a webpage as a single source of information for health and care professionals working in
end of life care: https://www.eastlondonhcp.nhs.uk/endoflifecare
It contains the latest guidance and resources on topics such as advance care planning, verification of
death, medicines management and care after death. It also includes useful information and support on
the ‘Coordinate My Care’ system, to assist with advance care planning.
We also worked with organisations across north east London to help coordinate the provision of
bereavement services for both adults and children, identify any gaps and ensure equality of access to
services.
As part of this work, we produced a series of bereavement guidance packs, designed to help local
people through very difficult times. These are available here:
https://www.eastlondonhcp.nhs.uk/bereavement.htm

Reducing health inequalities
People’s chances of enjoying good health and a longer life are not equal. They are determined by the
social and economic conditions into which they are born and live their lives (which also make a
difference to the way people use health services and look after their own health). These different
conditions create avoidable health inequalities.
We know that reducing health inequalities improves life expectancy and reduces disability, so people
live longer, more healthy lives. Doing something about these avoidable inequalities requires action in
different areas, across the whole of society.
CCGs consider their population and identify and address inequalities within the population. One of the
important ways in which we do this is by working closely with our local council and other partners on a
health and wellbeing strategy. This considers the changing health and social care needs of the
population, as set out in the local joint strategic needs assessment (JSNA) and identifies key priorities,
which then underpin service planning and commissioning.
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Locally, we integrate health and care planning and services where possible, using our finite resources
most effectively to reduce variation and address health inequalities. We work closely with our partners
as part of our local partnership governance to focus on better outcomes for people, with prevention at
the heart of our work to transform services.
Some of the examples listed in the previous section demonstrate the work we are doing to address
inequalities in NEL and this work will be further expanded over the next year.

Health and wellbeing strategy
In this section, we summarise the key elements of the Tower Hamlets health and wellbeing strategy,
along with our contribution to developing and delivering it. We shared this section with our health and
wellbeing (HWB) colleagues and have incorporated their feedback where received.
The joint health and wellbeing strategy (JHWS) sets out a vision for improving the health and wellbeing
of residents and reducing inequalities at every stage of people’s lives. It aims to help people improve
their health by identifying the key priorities based on the evidence in our joint strategic needs
assessment (JSNA) and what can be done to address them and what outcomes can be achieved.
As Tower Hamlets continues to grow, our residents will have improved health and wellbeing, with fewer
health inequalities. The JHWS strategy sets out our joint aims to increase resilience, empowering
people and developing a place-based system of care, where partners across the system work together
to improve the health of the population.
This Health and Wellbeing Strategy is different to previous Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategies. It
uses outcomes-based commissioning, encouraging partners to increasingly focus on outcomes and
impact, rather than outputs, with outcomes-based commissioning working effectively to improve
outcomes for residents.
The outcomes within this strategy set out what we want to achieve, the principles detail our
commitments within this and the measures demonstrate how we will check that partners are on track.
The alliance of providers and commissioners use this to create detailed delivery plans with actions to
take forward over the next five years to help achieve our ambitious outcomes. Every resident has a
responsibility to play their part and make positive and healthy decisions for themselves, their families
and the community.
The health and wellbeing board has continued its focus on redesigning patient pathways, focusing on
prevention, tackling the challenges of Covid-19, keeping people out of hospital whenever possible and
encouraging people to take responsibility for managing their own and their family’s health, and social
responsibility for the health of their neighbours and communities.
The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) was updated in 2018 in parallel with the joint health and
wellbeing strategy, with the CCG taking a full role in helping to shape the content. The HWB strategy
and related delivery plan were updated as a result.
The CCG chair, Dr Sam Everington, is deputy chair of the health and wellbeing board and plays an
integral role in the joint health and wellbeing strategy in Tower Hamlets.
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Engaging people and communities
As a CCG with a rapidly growing population that continues to face considerable health inequalities, we
remain committed to placing patients and the public at the heart of the work we do, to transform and
sustain services locally through genuine and effective engagement.
The patient voice continues to help shape improvements in the planning and commissioning of highquality, sustainable and safer care in our area through channels ranging from our Tower Hamlets
Community Commissioning Panel, to online ‘drop-in’ sessions regarding GP practice relocations. We
also encourage ongoing dialogue with attendees and questioners at our formal joint online Governing
Body meetings, held in public.
We believe that those who use a service are best placed to help design it. Through both new and
existing links we seek out participants (in our case, particularly, patients, carers and service users) to
work with us to understand issues and help shape the future model of care and local services, within
the budget available to us.
To be truly effective, the process should begin at a formative stage, helping us to design
communications around any major proposals before we even start on the necessary further level of
engagement and/or consultation, to ensure they are easily understood. We also provide ‘easy read’
versions of documents as and when appropriate and we can use interpreters to reach non-English
speaking audiences when required.
In response to the Covid-19 pandemic, we have worked with our local GPs to produce guidance videos
for our Bangladeshi, Somali and Chinese communities. Some of our GPs have appeared on local
language TV and radio stations or on webinars with local Housing Associations, to ensure accurate
information can be heard by residents in their own language. We have also worked closely with the
London Borough of Tower Hamlets to listen to local residents’ experiences and concerns during the
pandemic, and to co-design public Covid-19 Q&A webinars in English, Somali and Bengali/Sylheti.
We aim to coproduce work with local people when possible: a recent community project on the Isle of
Dogs (led by our Darzi Fellow) asked local people what they considered to be the health priorities in the
area. Focus groups, door-knocking, questionnaires and world-café events in the community centre all
gave local residents an opportunity to engage in robust conversations about areas needing attention.
We will use this information and will continue to work with local Isle of Dogs residents to shape
solutions to the important issues they have highlighted. The project has been shortlisted for an HSJ
Value ‘Pilot Project of the Year’ award.
Our CCG Community Commissioning Panel (CCP) has continued to meet throughout the pandemic.
Face-to-face meetings have been replaced with Zoom technology, with panel members dialling in from
their homes. This experienced and committed group of local residents from across the borough has
helped to shape new services and inter-agency projects, and has helped to disseminate accurate and
factual health information to friends, neighbours and the wider Tower Hamlets community.
We work closely with our partners at the East London Health and Care Partnership (ELHCP) to reach a
wider audience through the online East London Citizens’ Panel. The panel is designed to make it easy
for people to give virtual feedback on local health and care topics, and for those not able to attend more
formal meetings to have their say. Using a phone or computer, at a time that suits them, members are
able to tell us their thoughts on ideas or proposals, or give feedback or suggestions on health and care
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issues or topics through short surveys.
Working side-by-side with our local community and providers has enabled us to deliver the Covid-19
vaccination programme in community settings such as the East London Mosque, and our participation
in a local network which brings faith leaders together with healthcare staff has helped us to think in new
ways about engaging with our local faith community.
We want patients, carers and the public to become equal partners alongside clinicians and
commissioners and we will use a range of channels available to us to achieve this. We work closely
with our local Healthwatch and Council for Voluntary for Services and have strong relationships with
local charities and representative groups. We are rated as ‘Green Star’ by NHSE against the patient
and community engagement indicator.

Emergency preparedness, resilience and response
Under the Civil Contingencies Act (2004) NHS organisations must show that they can deal with such
incidents while maintaining services for patients. This work is referred to as ‘emergency preparedness,
resilience and response’ (EPRR). CCGs have to meet a number of EPRR core standards and NHSE is
responsible for ensuring the CCG meets these via an annual assurance process in order to obtain a
rating of compliance. NHSE adjusted their 2020 assurance process to focus on incident management
arrangements specific to Covid-19 across the NHS. All NEL CCGs submitted a return of “Fully
Compliant”, which was certified by NHSE.
In responding to the pandemic we have fully tested and developed our incident response arrangements
as a Clinical Commissioning Group and as system leaders within an ICS. We established our Covid-19
incident response arrangements early in 2020 and have reviewed our operating arrangements during
the pandemic, considering the learning and adapting our practices.
Sustainable Development
The CCG is required to report its progress in delivering against sustainable development indicators. We
are committed to promoting environmental and social sustainability through our actions as a corporate
body as well as a commissioner. Our procurement strategy requires us to consider our providers’
approaches to sustainability and carbon management.
As part of our responsibility to the Social Value Act, we will consider local providers of our services and
suppliers of goods, and associated benefits for low emissions, local job creation and local business
prosperity, support CCG spending within the borough and deliver wider local social and economic
benefits.
Over the past year we have largely worked remotely, which has minimised our impact on the
environment through limited travel and use of consumables. We have developed and increased our
ability to hold our meetings virtually, and this is set to continue through a more flexible approach to
working post-pandemic.
Our IT and primary care colleagues have supported general practice to transform the way that primary
care services are delivered, with far more patient consultations taking place online. This also had a
positive impact on our carbon footprint.
We continue to work closely with local partners to align commissioning across health and social care to
provide integrated local, sustainable services. We are part of the NEL Commissioning Alliance, working
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collaboratively with six other CCGs to commission services and we work with providers and council
colleagues as part of the ELHCP. Our primary care strategy includes a sustainable development
section and we aim to increase sustainability awareness and initiatives at practice level.

A1 (4) Performance analysis
As Covid-19 arrived in the UK in March, NHS finances were forced to rapidly adapt to sudden changes.
In light of the level of uncertainty and the national approach to control, the first half of the year resulted
in a payment mechanism whereby NHS providers and commissioners were paid on fixed ‘block
payment’ arrangements, with a series of additional reimbursement mechanisms to maintain
organisational stability and liquidity. In addition, work to minimise payment times to pay suppliers within
seven days, and ensure patients received the care they needed both in hospital and on discharge,
created a closer working relationship with local authority partners and third party suppliers to ensure
financial barriers were removed.
During this time, a number of national financial actions were taken, which do not appear within local
CCG financial performance. These include the supply of PPE, the cost of Nightingale facilities,
additional primary care reimbursement and the acquisition of additional equipment. Additionally, the
Hospital Discharge Fund ensured claims for additional out of hospital care could be financed on a cost
recovery basis, for either NHS or local authority sourced care.
The second half of the year saw a loosening of some of these national controls. CCG’s and NHS
providers were provided with revised block payment amounts and additional funds within their
allocations to cover further Covid-19 financial risks, underlying deficits within NHS providers and the
reinstatement of system development funding outlined in the long term plan. Alongside this, there was
an expectation that the local North East London system would work towards provider and CCG breakeven positions at both a system and individual level, and manage their own local funding requirements.
Alongside this, the Hospital Discharge Fund remained and, in the final part of the year, the national
vaccine programme was launched.
Throughout this time of significant financial volatility, North East London has managed to achieve
financial balance, both in the CCGs and our NHS providers.

Financial performance
The financial statements contained within the report provide a summary of the CCG’s financial position
and performance for 2020/21. This section of the report talks about how we manage our money and
how our financial performance is measured.
We are accountable for how we spend public money and achieve good value for money for our
patients. This is the eighth year of the CCG, and good financial control and management is vital for the
development of the organisation.

Funding
In 2020/21 Tower Hamlets CCG was given funding of £713m from NHSE. Within this funding the CCG
is allowed to spend £6.4m on the running costs of the organisation.
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How we spent the money
The majority of the CCG’s spend is used to purchase services from NHS Trusts and NHS Foundation
Trusts. In 2020/21, we spent £520m (£304m in 2019/20), which is 71% of our gross spend.
In 2020/21, spend related to delegated co-commissioning arrangements totalled £52m (£49m in
2019/20), which is 7% of our gross spend.
In summary we spent the money as follows:
£000s
Services from other NHS trusts

404,297

Services from foundation trusts

110,669

Services from other CCGs and NHSE

7,751

Healthcare from non-NHS organisations

65,987

Prescribing

34,119

GP primary care services

52,404

Other costs

55,142
730,369

Total

Future years
Our priority for 2021/22 will be to focus on recovery from the pandemic, including addressing the
elective care backlog, rollout of vaccinations and ensuring we are prepared for any future waves. The
planning guidance recently issued outlines the additional priorities which we are currently working up
delivery and funding plans for.
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Section B. ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT

Henry Black
Acting Accountable Officer
11 June 2021

22

B1 Corporate Governance Report
Full details about our governance arrangements, our committees and their responsibilities is
in the Annual Governance Statement along with information about data security and
associated breaches and disclosure statements. The Members report details the
composition of the governing body, a list of our member practices, the members of our
committees and the register of interests. Unless otherwise specified, the period relating to
membership of all committees is for the financial year and up to the signing of the Annual
Report and Accounts.

B1(1) Members’ report
Member profiles
The Chair of the CCG is Sir Sam Everington, a local GP who has worked in Tower Hamlets
since 1989 and is based in Bromley by Bow. Our Accountable Officer for the period covered
by this annual report was Jane Milligan, who worked locally in the NHS for the past 18 years
in both provider and commissioner roles. Since December 2017, Jane worked as the
Accountable Officer for the North East London Commissioning Alliance, the alliance of the
seven CCGs across north east London.
In December 2018, Selina Douglas became the CCG’s managing director across Waltham
Forest, Tower Hamlets and Newham CCGs. The management of the three CCGs of
Newham, Tower Hamlets and Waltham Forest came under one team in May 2019.
www.towerhamletsccg.nhs.uk

Member practices
During 2020/21, the CCG's membership comprised of 35 local general practices. These
member practices are grouped under eight networks within the borough.
Aberfeldy Practice

St. Katherine's Dock Practice

Albion Health Centre

St.Paul's Way Medical Ctr

Bethnal Green Health Ctr.

St.Stephens Health Centre

Brayford Square Surgery

Strouts Place Medical Centre

City Wellbeing Practice

The Barkantine Practice

Docklands Medical Centre

The Blithehale Med.Ctr.

East One Health

The Chrisp Street Hth Ctr

Gough Walk Practice

The Globe Town Surgery

Harford Health Centre

The Grove Road Surgery

Harley Grove Medical Ctr.

The Limehouse Practice

Health E1

The Mission Practice
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Island Health

The Spitalfields Practice

Jubilee Street Practice

The Stroudley Wlk Hth Ctr

Pollard Row Surgery

The Wapping Group Practice

Rana Ak (Merchant Street Practice)

Tredegar Practice

Roserton Street Surgery

Whitechapel Health Centre

Ruston Street Clinic

XX Place Health Centre

St Andrews Health Centre

Composition of Governing Body
The members are detailed below and more information about the Governing Body and its
work is contained in the Governance Statement (section B1(3) of this report).
Voting Members

Role

Sam Everington

GP, Chair of Tower Hamlets CCG

Jane Milligan

Single Accountable Officer

Henry Black

Chief Finance Officer

Selina Douglas

Managing Director

Khyati Bakhai

Locality Representative

Victoria Tzortziou-Brown

Locality Representative

Noah Curthoys

Lay Member for Corporate Affairs

Julia Slay

Lay Member for Public and Patient Involvement

Mariette Davis

Lay Member for Governance and Audit Chair

Maggie Buckell

Registered Nurse

Virginia Patania

Practice Manager Representative

Linda Aldous

Practice Nurse Representative

Somen Banerjee

Director of Public Health

Denise Radley

Corporate Director, Health, Adults and Community

The following members of staff are not voting members of the governing body, but are part
of the Senior Management Team:
Name
Role
Chris Neill (until June 2020)

Director of Commissioning and Performance

Chris Cotton

Director of Strategy and Transformation

Satbinder Sanghera (until October
2020)
Chetan Vyas

Director of Corporate Affairs

Steve Collins

Executive Director of Finance

Sunil Thakker (from 17th February
2021)
Jenny Mazarelo

Executive Director of Finance

Director of Quality and Safety

Acting Director of Primary Care
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Committee(s), including Audit Committee
Information about the committee and its work is contained in the governance statement
(section B1(3) of this report). Details of membership of other committees are also contained
in the governance statement.

Register of Interests
We publish a register of members’ and senior managers’ interests on the CCG’s website.
This is updated as and when changes are notified to the CCG. The register gives details of
company directorships or other significant interests held by members and senior managers
where those companies are likely to do business, or are possibly seeking to do business
with the NHS, where this may conflict with their managerial responsibilities.

Personal data related incidents
The NHS Information Governance (IG) Framework sets the processes and procedures by
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal
identifiable information. The framework is supported by an IG toolkit and the annual
submission process provides assurances to the CCG, other organisations and to individuals
that personal information is managed legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust IG systems and processes in place
to help protect patient and corporate information. We have established an IG management
framework and have implemented IG processes and procedures in line with the IG toolkit.
We ensure all staff and Governing Body members undertake annual IG training and provide
staff with guidance on their IG roles and responsibilities.
We use local clinical and corporate incident management and reporting tools to record and
report incidents and record all internal incidents. We notify the Department of Health and
Social Care and the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) of serious incidents that
require investigation via the national IG incident reporting tool.
During the reporting period, the CCG has had zero serious incidents involving data loss or
confidentiality breaches that require formal reporting to the ICO.

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved
confirms:
• so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit report
• the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make
him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s
auditor is aware of it.
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Modern Slavery Act
We fully support the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery and human
trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual Slavery and Human
Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015.

B1(2) Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed
by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed the NEL
CCG Accountable Officer to be the Accountable Officer of this CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:
•
•

•
•
•

•

The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer
is answerable,
For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them
to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction),
For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities).
The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money,
Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in
accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended))
and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in
accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)),
Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J
of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in
the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on
an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical
Commissioning Group and of its income and expenditure, Statement of Financial Position
and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to:
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•

•
•

•
•

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis;
Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government
Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any
material departures in the accounts; and,
Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and
Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and Accounts
and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and
understandable.

As the Accountable Officer, I and my predecessor have taken all the steps that we ought to
have taken to make us aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that our
internal (RSM) and external (KPMG) auditors are aware of that information. So far as I am
aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware.

B1 (3) Governance Statement
Tower Hamlets CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under
the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of
services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in
particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it
considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local population.
As at 1 April 2021, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any directions from
NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006.

Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public
Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently
and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding
financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of
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the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this
governance statement.

The Constitution
The Constitution, which was approved by NHSE as part of the authorisation process in
March 2013 provides that it is the GB, which undertakes any functions not reserved or
otherwise delegated.
The scheme of delegation included in the constitution sets out those specific decisions that
are reserved for the Members’ Committee. These are as follows:
1. Make recommendations to NHS England for changes to the Constitution of the
Group
2. Amending the Standing Orders and/or the Scheme of Delegation
3. Change the nature of the business of the Group or do anything inconsistent with the
mission, values and aims of the Group
4. Use any other name than that specified in Clause 1.1 of the Constitution in relation to
the activities of the Group
5. Merge, amalgamate or federate the Group with any other CCG
6. Seek to remove any Member
7. Reorganise the boundaries of or change the organisational structure of the Group
8. Approve the arrangements for appointing and removing Clinical Directors to/from the
GB.

Governance arrangements and effectiveness
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as
are relevant to it.
The overarching governance arrangements are set out in the Constitution, which includes
the CCG governance structure, standing orders, prime financial policies and the scheme of
reservation and delegation.
The CCG has supplemented the governance framework by the formal adoption of the Nolan
Principles on Standards in Public Life, the Code of Conduct and Accountability for NHS
Boards, the CCG Code of Conduct, Standards of Business Conduct Policy, Gifts and
Hospitality Policy, Anti-Bribery Policy and a Conflicts of Interest Policy.
Using the NHS England guidance: "The Functions of Clinical Commissioning Groups" and
published legal guidance, the CCG has reviewed its statutory duties and is satisfied that it
has in place all the necessary complete and lawful arrangements to ensure the proper
discharge of those functions.
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To undertake and ensure the systematic discharge of its functions and duties, the
membership established a governing body and complementary sub committees. Details of
their roles are set out in the following sections.
Tower Hamlets CCG and its partners and colleagues in the local health and social care
system have come to together and recognised a greater need for partnership working to
address the pressures in the health and social care system and achieve the aims of the NHS
Long Term Plan and the Sustainability and Transformation Plan. Closer, joint working would
provide an opportunity to more effectively manage the complex issues faced by local
providers that could influence the quality of services and equality of care provided in Tower
Hamlets and across north east London.
In 2018, the CCGs of Newham, Tower Hamlets and Waltham Forest began steps to work as
one workforce under one management team. In July 2019, the Governing Body voted to step
down the Finance and Planning Committee and the Performance and Quality Committee in
favour of the following joint committees of the WEL CCGs, Joint WEL Board, the Finance
and Performance Committee and the Quality and Safety Committee. Tower Hamlets CCG
Audit Committee continues to meet in common with the WEL CCGs and the Remuneration
Committee continues to meet in common across both WEL and NEL CCGs.
The impact of the pandemic during 2020/21 led to many aspects of business as usual being
stepped down for specific periods, in order to focus on meeting the challenges faced by the
response to Covid-19. As a result, the monthly WEL Joint Board did not sit during 2020/21.
Key items of business were subsequently presented to the Governing Body which met in
common with the other WEL CCG Governing Bodies periodically through the year.

The Governing Body
The Governing Body undertakes a proportion of its work through committees. The Terms of
Reference of each Committee requires a timely summary of its meetings to be presented by
the Committee Chair to the Governing Body at the first available opportunity. The approved
minutes of the committees are summarised and provided to each Governing Body meeting.
The roles of each of the committees are set out below. The committees have authority under
the scheme of delegation to establish sub-committees or sub-groups to enable them to fulfil
their role.
Each committee has terms of reference and is authorised by the Governing Body to pursue
any activity within them and within the Scheme of Reservation and Delegation of Powers.
The Schemes of Delegation of each governing body committee are referenced within the
CCG Constitution and are available on the CCG website.
The following Governing Body meetings were held during 2020/21.
Joint Chair: Dr Sam Everington, Dr Ken Aswani (Waltham Forest CCG), Dr Muhammad
Naqvi (Newham CCG)
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CCG Representative
Members
Jane Milligan
Mariette Davis
Selina Douglas
Henry Black
Julia Slay
Khyati Bakhai (Dr)
Linda Aldous
Maggie Buckell
Noah Curthoys
Sam Everington (Dr)
Somen Banerjee
Victoria Tzortziou-Brown
(Dr)
Virginia Patania
Denise Radley
Attendees
Chetan Vyas
Dianne Barham
Jenny Mazarelo
Satbinder Sanghera
Steve Collins
Christopher Cotton
Marie Price
Others
Frazer Tams
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The WEL Joint Board previously set up to oversee the strategic management of the WEL
CCGs was stood down during 2020/21. Its core functions continued to be carried out
through the WEL CCGs Governing Bodies in common meetings listed above.

WEL CCGs' Joint Finance and Performance Committee
The joint Finance and Performance Committee has delegated responsibility from the three
CCGs' governing bodies for oversight of strategic finance and CCG performance.
The Finance and Performance Committee assists the Governing Body in its duty to act
efficiently, effectively and economically. The committee oversees the current and projected
financial position of the CCG and ensures cohesive and coordinated planning and effective
delivery of the annual QIPP plan. It also assures the joint board that the CCG has enough
capacity and capability to deliver its strategic objectives.
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Moreover, the Committee oversees the delivery and performance of commissioned services
in respect of services not reserved to the Primary Care Commissioning Committee.
Co -Chair: Noah Curthoys, Vineeta Manchanda (Waltham Forest CCG)
Representative
Members
Noah Curthoys
Mariette Davis
Selina Douglas
Steve Collins
Chris Cotton
Victoria
TzortziouBrown (Dr)
Chetan Vyas
Chris Neill
Attendees
Andrea Antoine
Ian Clay
Jenny Mazarelo
Joe McDonnell
Katie Brennan
Mark Lobban
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WEL CCGs Joint Quality and Safety Committee
The Joint Quality and Safety Committee has delegated responsibility from the three CCGs’
WEL CCGs Joint Board for oversight of quality and safety.
The committee will seek assurance that there are effective arrangements in place for
monitoring and improving the quality, safety, experience and operational performance of all
services commissioned by the CCGs, as well as any directly provided services. This
includes assurance that processes are in place for quality: the monitoring of key quality,
safety, experience and clinical measures, the delivery of safeguarding responsibilities and
accountabilities, and the review of serious untoward incident themes and trends, never
events, complaints and patient experience reports and providing objective scrutiny and
assurance to the WEL CCGs Joint Board on the CCGs’ overall delivery of the quality, safety
and safeguarding elements of their operational plans.
Co-Chair: Maggie Buckell, Fiona Smith (Newham CCG)
CCG Representative

May-20

Jun-20

Members
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Jul-20

Aug20

Sep20

Oct-20

Nov20

Chetan Vyas
Maggie Buckell
Linda Aldous
Core Attendees
Chris Neill
Justin Roper
Korkor Ceasar
Lynn Torpey
Sandra Moore
Substitutes/Others
Jeannette Weisman
Lisa Clarkson
Pacifique Kimonyo
Sandy Squire
Sulaimon Quadri
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Due to the impact of Covid-19 the WEL CCGs Joint Quality and Safety Committee did not
meet in April 2020 or between December 2020 and March 2021.

WEL CCGs' Primary Care Commissioning Committees in Common
With NHS England, this is a co -committee of the governing body as prescribed by schedule
1A of the “NHS Act” relating to delegated commissioning. The committee functions as a
corporate decision-making body for the management of the delegated primary care
commissioning functions and the exercise of the delegated powers.
The Committee allows members to make collective decisions on the review, planning and
procurement of primary care services in Tower Hamlets, under delegated authority from
NHS England.
Joint Chair: Julia Slay, Caroline White (Waltham Forest), Phil Horwell (Newham),
CCG Representative
JunAugSepNov- Dec- JanJul-20
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Greg Cairns
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Ian Clay
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WEL CCGs' Audit Committees in Common
The Audit Committee is a statutorily mandated committee of the CCG, established in
accordance with the CCG Constitution. Its role is to seek assurance that financial reporting
and internal control principles are applied, and to maintain an appropriate relationship with
the organisation's auditors, both internal and external. The Audit Committee offers scrutiny
of and advice to, the Governing Body about the reliability and robustness of the CCG's
processes of internal control. The Audit Committee of Tower Hamlets CCG now meets
regularly in common with Waltham Forest CCG and Newham CCG audit committees, with
audit committee membership shared across the CCGs.
The Committee's key areas of focus during the year included a review of the developing
governance structures under the WEL CCGs, Continuing Healthcare systems, CSU inhousing of services, NELCA and ICS developments, conflicts of interest management,
freedom to speak up guardian policies, internal control systems, risk management, external
and internal audit assurance, counter fraud assurance and Annual Report and Accounts
including the Annual Governance Statement.
Co Chair: Mariette Davis, Vineeta Manchanda (Waltham Forest)
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Individual funding request panel
The Individual Funding Request (IFR) panel oversees cases where an individual funding
request can be made by a clinician treating a patient if they believe that there are clinical
circumstances that are exceptional and the patient would benefit from a treatment or service
not routinely offered by the NHS. The management of individual funding requests for Tower
Hamlets, Waltham Forest and Newham CCGs is outsourced to the North East London
Commissioning Support Unit.

UK Corporate Governance Code
NHS bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance.
Whilst the detailed provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code are not mandatory for
public sector bodies, compliance is considered to be good practice. This Governance
Statement is intended to demonstrate the CCG’s compliance with the principles set out in
the Code (insofar as this applies to CCGs).
For the financial year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of signing this statement, we
complied with the provisions set out in the Code, and applied the principles of the Code.
The CCG has discharged its duties as required under the NHS Primary Care Delegation
arrangements.

Discharge of statutory functions
In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has
reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can
confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative requirements
associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any
restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and
capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.
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Risk management arrangements and effectiveness
Tower Hamlets CCG has a comprehensive risk management framework, which ensures the
identification and accurate assessment of risk, identifies accountability for individual risks
and responsibility for the mitigation of risks at both a strategic and operational level. The
governing body considers the key strategic risks and with the Joint Management Team
reviewing all corporate risks on a monthly basis. Operational risks continue to be reviewed
at individual committee level. The principal risks to the achievement of the CCGs objectives
are reported to the Joint Management Team and the Governing Body as part of the Board
Assurance Framework (BAF), which is the responsibility of the WEL Managing Director
supported by the WEL Head of Governance.
As part of the development of the WEL CCGs’ structure, risks are now considered across
the wider WEL footprint with implications across the three CCGs being considered. A WEL
Board Assurance Framework has been developed and highlights risks to the achievement of
the WEL strategic objectives.
The consideration of strategic risk at board level includes an assessment of risk appetite
when determining the appropriate intervention and mitigation required. This provides a
consistent approach to consideration of risk and ensures that objectives are pursued within
reasonable risk limitations.
The Audit Committee, which during 2020/21 has continued to operate on a committees in
common basis across the WEL CCGs, provides scrutiny over the effectiveness of integrated
governance processes in place including the consideration of internal audit reports received
on specific areas throughout the year. The BAF has been presented and reviewed by the
committee at each of its meetings.
All directors within the CCG have a responsibility to ensure risks are identified and effectively
managed across the organisation. Individual directors are assigned as risk owners for
specific risks that fall within the remit of their responsibility. All risks within the directorate risk
registers and the Board Assurance Framework are reviewed by the risk owner before being
reported through the relevant committee or Governing Body.
The standard cycle of risk review includes:
•
•
•

Individual risks being reviewed with the risk leads in line with the specified review
dates
Updates and risk status reports are reviewed by the risk owners (directors)
Directorate risk reports are presented to the respective committee for consideration
and review (primary care commissioning, finance and performance, quality and
safety, joint management team)

The joint management team considers and reviews the position with the Board Assurance
Framework on a bi monthly basis. The Board Assurance Framework is updated and
maintained by the governance team with relevant Directors responsible for reviewing each
risk.
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The Audit Committee reviews the Board Assurance Framework, provides scrutiny over the
risk management process and retains the option to explore individual risk areas further
through deep dive reviews.
The Board Assurance Framework provides the governing body with a mechanism to assess
the level of confidence that the organisation will achieve its objectives. The consideration of
the control environment in place for each of those risks coupled with assurances received
over their effective operation helps to guide the governing body as to where concerns exist
and what actions are required to bridge any gaps.

Capacity to handle risk
The CCG Constitution and the accompanying Scheme of Delegation set out the
responsibilities of directors and committees including governance reporting lines. Timely and
accurate information, to assess the impact of risk and ensure compliance with the CCGs
statutory obligations, is submitted in line with the CCGs annual plan of committee work. The
governing body has rigorous oversight of the performance of the CCG, via formal meetings,
seminars and through assurances received from committees and audits. The WEL
Committees and WEL Joint Board have in their Terms of Reference a requirement to report
to the WEL Joint Board and CCG Governing Body members.

Risk assessment
The CCG risk register sets out all the current risks describing the nature of these risks, the
existing controls in place and actions required to manage the risks. New risks identified for
inclusion on the CCG risk register are assessed for their ‘likelihood and consequence’ using
a 5x5 risk matrix in accordance with the CCG risk management policy.
Risks assessed as having an inherent rating of 15 or above (red risks) before considering
any control mechanisms we have in place, are mapped against our corporate objectives and
included within the Board Assurance Framework. The Audit Committee scrutinises both
controls and assurances as part of its overall review of the effectiveness of the system of
internal control in place.
The governing body reviews the WEL Board Assurance Framework to assess the current
level of risk and its impact on the achievement of corporate objectives.
Risks assessed as residually scoring 15 or above once all current control mechanisms in
place have been considered are reviewed on a monthly basis by the risk owner whereas
moderate level risks (6-14) are reviewed on a bi-monthly basis. Lower level risks scoring
five or below are reviewed on a quarterly basis.
During 2020/21 there were 15 risks that were initially assessed as red risks (scoring 15/25 or
above) - of these, there are three risks that for at least part of the year continue to be
managed at a high level. These are:
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1. The current fragmented system for the accountability and management of CHC
provision across WEL is resulting in inconsistent governance around CHC decision
making processes. This is leading to an inconsistent level of service provision and
increased concern over quality and patient safety.
2. There is a concern over the financial viability of practices and subsequent risk to the
CCG from a failure to settle service charge debt with landlords. This in turn could
impact on available primary care capacity going forward.
3. The impending mass Covid-19 vaccination programme proposed to commence over
the coming months will have a significant impact on the continued provision of
provider and GP services across WEL. This in turn will impact on the delivery of
borough based plans and could lead to delays in care or impact on the quality and
availability of services.
The other 12 risks initially classified as red included:
1. Due to an increased dependency on technology there is an increased risk that the
UK is subjected to a cyber-attack. This would make all, or part of the NHS IT
infrastructure unavailable for an unspecified amount of time. This could cause all of
the CCG’s business critical functions to cease, causing patient safety, financial and
reputational damage
2. Continued financial shortfalls within providers reported positions places further
pressure on WEL CCGs to support the delivery of system wide financial control totals
which could impact on the overall stability of the WEL local health economy.
3. Financial pressures within individual CCGs across WEL could result in a failure to
meet specified financial control total for 2020/21. This could significantly impact on
the overall stability of the WEL health economy.
4. Delays in reporting activity could lead to an unforeseen increase in costs, which may
lead to an inability to achieve financial balance.
5. A failure to effectively monitor the quality of commissioned services to ensure the
delivery of better clinical outcomes, will compromise patient safety, patient
experience and the provision of quality of care
6. A lack of additional developmental maturity and transformation capacity within the
borough-based partnerships might lead to an inability to prioritise, plan, and deliver at
borough level, thereby compromising the collective ambition for integrated
community care in the three WEL boroughs
7. The CCG is currently managing a significant demand on resource whilst working
remotely under national lockdown measures. In addition, further changes continue
including a staff consultation process. This may result in some staff experiencing a
level of anxiety about the forthcoming change, albeit that the change is not
associated to any organisation restructure.
8. The potential impact of winter pressures coupled with the effects of any 2nd or 3rd
wave Covid-19 peak could result in a failure to effectively implement the community
strategies across WEL. This in turn could have long-term implications to the
proposed redevelopment of acute services across WEL if unable to release the
required non elective capacity.
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9. National requirement of Think 111 to transform the urgent and emergency care
system to a more planned pathway will not be delivered on time and meeting the
national expectations. The programme needs to deliver on:
•
•
•

Direct booking into UTC
Direct booking into Emergency Departments
Sufficient capacity across ED, UTC, Rapid Response, Primary Care and Out of
Hours to ensure demand can be met.

Across WEL there are a significant number of providers, which all need to deliver
ambition for success to be met, failure will result in services not being able to meet
patient activity demand, performance against national standards (A&E 4 Hour
Standard, Length of Stay, DTOC) and the CCGs reputation being damaged.
10. Post Covid-19 wave 1 and as part of Winter Planning there is a requirement that
each hospital in WEL has an Integrated Discharge Hub in the community to support
patients to be discharged from hospital in a safe but speedy time frame.
During Wave 1 the Hubs were put in place at pace, are delivered through the use of
Interim Staff / redeployed staff and in some cases have performance issues. Within
WEL we are required to have three Integrated Discharge Hubs.
Failure to deliver will result in the CCG not being compliant with National Guidance,
discharges will be slow from hospital impacting on our ability to deliver national
performance standards and impact on the CCG reputation.
11. There is a risk that the NHSE primary care allocations for WEL are not sufficient to
meet the required expenditure levels and therefore creating a significant cost
pressure. This in turn could impact on the ability to deliver against planned services.
12. Inability to provide primary care from modern estate and risk of contractual and
regulatory obligations not being fulfilled by contractors if estate is not fit for purpose

Other sources of assurance
Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to
identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the
impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness. The earlier section on risk outlines how this process works for the CCG and
across the wider collaborative.

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management
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The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June
2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest
management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a
template audit framework. Our internal auditors RSM have completed this audit and given a
rating of substantial assurance.

Data Quality
The CCG receives activity and financial data from NEL CSU as part of a contract it has for a
range of services from that organisation. The quality of the data used by the governing body
is considered to be acceptable.

Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which
the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal
identifiable information. The framework is supported by an information governance toolkit
and the annual submission process provides assurances to the clinical commissioning
group, other organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with legally,
securely, efficiently and effectively. The CCG has not submitted a data protection and
security toolkit this year. This will be submitted in June 2021.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust systems and processes in place to
help protect patient and corporate information. We have established an information
governance management framework and have developed processes and procedures in line
with the information governance toolkit. We have ensured all staff undertake training and
have implemented a staff information governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of
their roles and responsibilities.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents. We
are developing information risk assessment and management procedures and a programme
will be established to fully embed an information risk culture throughout the organisation
against identified risks.

Business critical models
An appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide quality assurance of
business critical models via NEL CSU, in line with the recommendations in the Macpherson
report. No business critical models have been identified that require information about quality
assurance processes for those models to be provided to the Analytical Oversight Committee
chaired by the Chief Analyst in the Department of Health and Social Care.

Third party assurances
The CCG commissions NEL CSU to run elements of our commissioning function – such as
contracting, business intelligence, communications and HR. The service standards are
monitored as part of an SLA and the Audit and Governance Committee receives regular
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auditor reports on contracted-for services.

Control Issues
There were no control issues identified via the Month 9 Governance Statement return, and
this remains the position at the end of the financial year.

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources
The CCG has a comprehensive governance and reporting framework in place to monitor use
of resources, identify any issues and ensure the appropriate measures are taken to address
any variance from plans. The governing body/joint committee receives regular summary
reports concerning the CCG’s financial performance, and the finance committee has
authority to conduct more detailed scrutiny and report back.
The Finance Committee convenes regularly to scrutinise the detailed operational financial
performance of the CCG.
The Audit Committee is chaired by the GB Lay Member for Governance with additional lay
membership. The Committee performs the role of oversight and scrutiny of CCG policies,
procedures and systems of internal control, and had a focus on ensuring that conflicts of
interest are managed in line with the CCG’s Constitution.
Underpinning the CCG’s governance framework are the Prime Financial Policies, which set
out the key business rules that govern the organisation, including internal control, audit,
standards of business conduct and budgetary control. They also incorporate the scheme of
delegation. This sets out the level of authority to act and make decisions, which has been
delegated from the CCG GB to the various executive committees, in addition to the
authorisation limits set by the GB for the management posts within the organisation to
authorise expenditure.
Much of the CCG’s commissioning spend is covered by contracts managed on our behalf by
the CSU. The CCG received assurances on CSU performance through regular contractual
meetings and, key performance indicator monitoring.

Delegation of functions
NEL CSU manages contracts with key providers on behalf of the CCG. The process is
overseen by the CCG and regularly reviewed through the internal audit process and
discussion at the AGC. In addition the Chief Finance Officer, Finance Director and relevant
other directors meet with the CSU lead staff regularly to discuss performance and agree
actions where there are concerns. Generally, the process has worked well over the past
financial year.
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The CCG is a delegated commissioner of primary care. The CCG’s arrangements for
managing this function are subject to regular review by internal audit and the Audit
Committee.

Counter fraud arrangements
•
•

•
•
•

An Accredited Counter Fraud Specialist, RSM UK, is contracted to undertake counter
fraud work proportionate to identified risks.
The CCG Audit Committee receives a report against each of the Standards for
Commissioners at least annually. There is executive support and direction for a
proportionate proactive work plan to address identified risks.
Regular reports are presented to the CCG’s audit committee with progress against
the work plan, updates on cases and policy updates.
A member of the governing body is proactively and demonstrably responsible for
tackling fraud, bribery and corruption.
Appropriate action is taken regarding any NHS Counter Fraud Authority quality
assurance recommendations.
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B1(4) Head of Internal Audit Opinion
In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the head of internal audit is
required to provide an annual opinion, based upon and limited to the work performed, on the
overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk management, control and
governance processes. The opinion should contribute to the organisation's annual
governance statement.

Head of internal audit opinion
Our head of internal audit opinion for NHS Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group is
as follows:
Head of internal audit opinion 2020/21

Please see appendix A for the full range of annual opinions available to us in preparing this
report and opinion.

Scope and limitations of our work
The formation of our opinion is achieved through a risk-based plan of work, agreed with
management and approved by the audit committee. Our opinion is subject to inherent
limitations, as detailed below:
the opinion does not imply that internal audit has reviewed all risks and assurances relating
to the organisation;
•

•
•
•

•

the opinion is substantially derived from the conduct of risk-based plans generated
from a robust and organisation-led assurance framework. As such, the assurance
framework is one component that the Governing Body takes into account in making
its annual governance statement (AGS);
the opinion is based on the findings and conclusions from the work undertaken, the
scope of which has been agreed with management / lead individual;
the opinion is based on the testing we have undertaken, which was limited to the
area being audited, as detailed in the agreed audit scope;
where strong levels of control have been identified, there are still instances where
these may not always be effective. This may be due to human error, incorrect
management judgement, management override, controls being by-passed or a
reduction in compliance;
due to the limited scope of our audits, there may be weaknesses in the control
system which we are not aware of, or which were not brought to our attention;
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•

•

our internal audit work for 2020/21 has been undertaken through the substantial
operational disruptions caused by the Covid-19 pandemic. In undertaking our audit
work, we recognise that there has been a significant impact on both the operations of
the organisation and its risk profile, and our annual opinion should be read in this
context; and
it remains management’s responsibility to develop and maintain a sound system of
risk management, internal control and governance, and for the prevention and
detection of material errors, loss or fraud. The work of internal audit should not be
seen as a substitute for management’s responsibilities around the design and
effective operation of these systems.

Factors and findings which have informed our opinion
Based on the work undertaken in 2020/21, there is generally a sound system of internal
control, designed to meet the CCG’s objectives, and controls are generally being applied
consistently, although there are some specific areas where improvements can be made,
particularly over the design and operation of the systems of control to achieve their intended
outcomes.
We issued the following partial assurance report, which has contributed towards the
inclusion of the caveat to the opinion shown above. We note that this area was particularly
focused upon, following engagement with Management and requests to target areas where
there were concerns and further assurance was being sought:

Personal Health Budgets
The results of the audit indicated that further action is required to be taken by the CCG to
mitigate and identify risks of potential fraud and bribery related to PHB packages. The Local
Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) identified several areas where improvement was required
and raised one high and four medium priority management actions to close the identified
gaps in control. These areas of concern relate to the existence and adequate completion of
support plans, decision support tools (DST) and individual service user placement
agreements (ISUPAs), confirmation of patient identities and periodic review processes.

Substantial Assurance
•

Financial Planning and Financial Governance expenditure – Covid 19

Reasonable Assurance
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Primary Care Commissioning - Contract Oversight and Management Functions
Post COVID-19 Recovery Strategy
Primary Care Commissioning and Primary Care Networks Finance
Procurement and Contracts Register
CCG Governance and Risk Management
Conflicts of Interest
Continuing Healthcare
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We also issued in final the advisory report on Financial Governance – Covid 19
arrangements, reviewing the revised financial governance arrangements that have been
proposed for implementation in response to the specific request from the CCG. As part of
this review we conducted a benchmarking exercise and highlighted a few areas where the
CCG may wish to consider whether there is any further action to take, based on suggestions
noted elsewhere.
In addition, we issued an advisory report on Cyber Essentials. As a result of the review, we
raised one low and four medium priority management actions relating to the cyber security
control framework. These actions concern Access Control and Patch Management control
themes, and the need for information to be provided to support the responses of the selfassessment questionnaire. We will follow up on the agreed management actions when they
become due.
All management actions due by end of 31 March 2021 have been implemented. Any actions
with a due date beyond 31 March are continuing to be implemented and progress reported
through to the Audit Committee at North East London CCG.

Topics judged relevant for consideration as part of the annual governance
statement
Based on the work we have undertaken to date on the CCG’s system on internal control, we
do not consider that within these areas there are any issues that need to be flagged as
significant control issues within the Annual Governance Statement (AGS). The CCG may
wish to consider whether any other issues have arisen as well as recognise the challenging
environment within which the CCG is operating, including the results of any external reviews,
when determining whether anything should be highlighted within the Annual Governance
Statement.

Service Auditor Reports
We reviewed the Service Auditor Reports from the internal auditors of NHS Shared Business
Services and the CSU who provide services to the CCG. No major exceptions were noted
and there is therefore no negative impact on the control environment.
We reviewed the Service Auditor Reports from the internal auditors for Capita and NHS
Digital. Whilst there were a few exceptions, no significant exceptions were noted and
therefore there is no significant impact on the control environment.
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Appendix A: Annual opinions
The following shows the full range of opinions available to us within our internal audit
methodology to provide you with context regarding your annual internal audit opinion.
Annual opinions

Factors influencing our
opinion
The factors which are
considered when
influencing our opinion
are:
inherent risk in the area
being audited;
Limitations in the
individual audit
assignments
The adequacy and
effectiveness of the risk
management and / or
governance control
framework
The impact of weakness
identified
The level of risk exposure
The response to
management actions
raised and timeliness of
actions taken

B1(5) Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management
and internal control
As Accountable Officer I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control within the CCG.
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the
internal auditors who have produced satisfactory assurance reports on our governance
system and framework. It is also informed by the directors and clinical leads within the CCG
who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control
framework. My attendance at the governing body/joint committee (GB/JC)enables me to gain
assurance that the system of internal control is operating effectively. I and my managing
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director also regularly meet with the senior risk lead to review our effectiveness in managing
risk and the supporting systems and processes we have in place.
I have drawn on performance information available to me and on the minutes and chairs’
reports presented to the GB/JC meetings from the Finance, Quality, Remuneration and Audit
Committees and am assured by the arrangements in place. I also regularly meet with the
Lay Member for Governance, the CCG Chair and the CCGs’ MD to reflect on effectiveness
and improvements needed.
I have taken account of the review of effectiveness undertaken with GB/JC members and the
Audit and Governance Committee. These both reflected a good degree of confidence in our
systems and processes but recognised that there is scope for further improvement.
My review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management
letter and other reports.
The Assurance Framework and reports to the GB/JC provides me with evidence that the
effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the CCG achieving its principal objectives
have been reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control by the GB, the Audit Committee and other Committees of the GB.
Plans to address weaknesses, learn from best practice and ensure continuous improvement
of the system are in place.
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the CCG, the Head
of Internal Audit issues an independent and objective opinion on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the CCG’s system of risk management, governance and internal control. I
also use this information to inform my view on the effectiveness of our arrangements.

Conclusion
None of the auditors’ reports considered by the Audit and Governance Committee during
2020/21 raised significant internal control issues and I am satisfied that the systems outlined
in this statement reflect an organisation that generally operates with effective and sound
systems of internal control.
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B2 Remuneration and Staff Report
B2 (1)

Remuneration report

Policy on the remuneration of senior managers
The NHS has adopted the recommendations outlined in the Greenbury report in respect of the
disclosure of senior managers’ remuneration and the manner in which it is determined. Senior
managers are defined as those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility
for directing or controlling the major activities of the CCG. This means those who influence the
decisions of the CCG as a whole rather than the decisions of individual directorates or
departments. Such persons will include advisory and lay members. This report outlines how
those recommendations have been implemented by the CCG in the year to 31 March 2021.
The remuneration of senior managers is determined by the Remuneration and Workforce
Committee in line with national NHS ‘Agenda for Change’ and very senior manager pay
guidance. The Committee reviews information about director and GB members’
responsibilities, as well as comparing remuneration in similar organisations to set pay.

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers (subject to audit)
During 2020/21, one senior manager’s combined salary across NELCA was more than
£150,000 per annum (the salary of the prime minister). The salary cost is shared between the
seven NEL CCGs.
The pay was determined by a remuneration committee in common in line with the national
guidance for VSM salaries. Salary levels are benchmarked against equivalent roles in other
commissioning alliances and London NHS providers.
The post holder is the Accountable Officer for the seven NEL CCGs and Senior Responsible
Officer for the NEL Sustainability and Transformation Partnership of CCGs, NHS providers,
local authorities and other partners.
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Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements) (subject to audit)

(bands
(bands of
of
£5000)
£5000)
£000
£000

Title

20 - 25

0

0

20 - 25

0

45 - 50

Total

Name

Long term
Performance
pay and
bonuses
All PensionRelated
Benefits

Performance
pay and
Bonuses

£000

(to
nearest
£100)
£00

Salary

Note

Dates served
Expense
Payments
(taxable)

2020-21

From

To

£000

(bands
of
£5000)
£000

0

40 - 42.5

65 - 70

01/04/2020 31/03/2021

0

0

10 - 12.5

30 - 35

01/04/2020 31/03/2021

0

0

0

10 - 12.5

55 - 60

01/04/2020 31/03/2021

45 - 50

0

0

0

0

45 - 50

01/04/2020 31/03/2021

30 - 35

0

0

0

17.5 - 20

50 - 55

01/04/2020 31/03/2021

(bands of
£5000)

(bands of
£2,500)

Executive
Directors
1

Jane Milligan

1

Henry Black

2

Steven Collins

2

Selina Douglas

2

Jennifer Mazarelo

NELCA Accountable
Officer
NELCA Chief Finance
Officer
WEL CCGs Executive
Director of Finance (GB
voting member when
Henry Black not in
attendance)
WEL Managing Director
GB (voting member
when Jane Milligan not
in attendance)
WEL Acting Director of
Primary Care
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2&7

Christopher Neill

2

Chetan Vyas

2&7

Satbinder
Sanghera

2&7

Christopher
Cotton

2
2

3
4&5

Non Executives
Dr Sam
Everington
Noah Curthoys

2
3

Mariette Davis
Dr Victoria
Tzortziou Brown
Virginia Patania
Maggie Buckell

7

Denise Radley

WEL Director of
Commissioning and
Performance
WEL Director of Quality
and Safety
WEL Director of
Corporate Services
WEL Director of
Strategy and
Transformation

Chair, Elected GP
Representative
Vice Chair, Lay
Member Corporate
Affairs
Lay Member
Principal Clinical Lead
– Integrated Care
Practice Manager
Board Nurse Safeguarding
Corporate Director,
Health, Adults &
Community London
Borough of Tower
Hamlets

30 - 35

0

0

0

2.5 - 5

35 - 40

01/04/2020 30/06/2020

35 - 40

0

0

0

7.5 - 10

45 - 50

01/04/2020 31/03/2021

20 - 25

0

0

0

0 - 2.5

20 - 25

01/04/2020 31/10/2020

35 - 40

0

0

0

10 - 12.5

50 - 55

01/04/2020 31/03/2021

90 - 95

0

0

0

90 - 95

01/04/2020 31/03/2021

10 - 15

0

0

0

10 - 15

01/04/2020 31/03/2021

10 - 15
60 - 65

0
0

0
0

0
0

10 - 15
60 - 65

01/04/2020 31/03/2021
01/04/2020 31/03/2021

15 - 20
5 - 10

0
0

0
0

0
0

15 - 20
5 - 10

01/04/2020 31/03/2021
01/04/2020 31/03/2021

0

0

0

0

0

01/04/2020 31/03/2021
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7

Somen Banerjee

4

Dr Khyati Bakhai

6
2

Linda Aldous
Julia Slay

Director of Public
Health London Borough
of Tower Hamlets
Commissioning
Network 5 & 6
Representative
Practice Nurse
Lay Member Patient
and Public Involvement

0

0

0

0

0

01/04/2020 31/03/2021

25 - 30

0

0

0

25 - 30

01/04/2020 31/03/2021

45 - 50
10 - 15

0
0

0
0

0
0

45 - 50
10 - 15

01/04/2020 31/03/2021
01/04/2020 31/03/2021

1. The NEL Commissioning Alliance Accountable Officer is the appointed officer for seven CCGs: NHS Barking and Dagenham, Havering,
Redbridge, Waltham Forest, Newham, Tower Hamlets and City and Hackney. The total salary for the post in 2020/21 across all
organisations was Salary: £155k to £160k; Pension Related Benefits: £293k; Total: £450k to £455k. The Accountable Officer of the
CCG received an agreed annual salary. An element of this annual salary may be reclaimed in future periods if it is determined that
objectives set for that individual have not been achieved.
2. The NEL Commissioning Alliance Chief Finance Officer is the appointed officer for seven CCGs: NHS Barking and Dagenham,
Havering, Redbridge, Waltham Forest, Newham, Tower Hamlets and City and Hackney with effect from the 1st of December 2018. The
total salary for the post in 2020/21 across all organisations was Salary: £145k to £150k; Pension Related Benefits: £82.5k to £85k;
Total: £225k to £230k.
3. The WEL Managing Director is the appointed officer for three CCGs - Waltham Forest, Newham, and Tower Hamlets. The total salary
for the post in 2020/21 across the three organisations was £145k to £150k; Pension Related Benefits: Nil; Total: £145k to £150k. The
WEL Managing Director receives an agreed annual salary. An element of this annual salary may be reclaimed in future periods if it is
determined that objectives set for that individual have not been achieved.
4. These members are GP’s with a contract for service and salary figure includes employer pension contributions
5. Salary includes remuneration for non-governing body services in the range of £30-£35k.
6. Salary includes remuneration for non-governing body services in the range of £25-£30k.
7. No remuneration is paid to these members for their Governing Body services
8. These members were in post for part of the 2020/21 financial year.
**Note: Taxable expenses and benefits in kind are expressed to the nearest £100.
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1. The NEL Commissioning Alliance Accountable Officer and the NEL Commissioning Alliance Chief Finance Office are the appointed officers
for seven CCGs: NHS Barking and Dagenham, Havering, Redbridge, Waltham Forest, Newham, Tower Hamlets and City and Hackney. Their
total remuneration across the seven CCGs are as follows:

Jane Milligan
Henry Black

NELCA Accountable
Officer
NELCA Chief Finance
Officer

(bands of
£5000)

(to nearest
£100)

£000
155 - 160

£00
0

(bands
(bands of
of
£5000)
£5000)
£000
£000
0
0

145 - 150

0

0

0

Total

All PensionRelated
Benefits

Long term
Performance
pay and

Performance
pay and
Bonuses

Title

Salary

Name

Dates served
Expense
Payments
(taxable)

2020-21

From

To

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5000)

£000
292.5 295
82.5 - 85

£000
450 - 455

01/04/2020 31/03/2021

225 - 230

01/04/2020 31/03/2021

The NEL Commissioning Alliance Accountable Officer receives an agreed annual salary, an element of this annual salary may be reclaimed in
future periods if it is determined that objectives set for that individual have not been achieved. It should be noted the large pension benefit
increases were down to where Cash Equivalent Transfer Value significantly rose as at 31 March 2021, as two staff had left and re-joined the
NHS Pensions scheme in 2020
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Steven Collins

Christopher
Cotton
Christopher
Neill
Satbinder
Sanghera

WEL Managing
Director GB (voting
member when Jane
Milligan not in
attendance)
WEL CCGs Executive
Director of Finance
(GB voting member
when Henry Black not
in attendance)
WEL Director of
Strategy and
Transformation
WEL Director of
Commissioning and
Performance
WEL Director of
Corporate Services

(bands
(bands of
of
£5000)
£5000)
£000
£000
0
0

(bands
of
£2,500)
£000
0

(bands
of
£5000)
£000
135 140

135 140

0

0

0

30 - 32.5

165 170

01/04/2020

31/03/2021

115 120

0

0

2

35 - 37.5

150 155

01/04/2020

31/03/2021

95 100

0

0

0

7.5 - 10

105 110

01/04/2020

30/06/2020

65 - 70

0

0

0

2.5 - 5

65 - 70

01/04/2020

31/10/2020

Total

(to
nearest
£100)
£00
0

All PensionRelated
Benefits

(bands
of
£5000)
£000
135 140
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Long term
Performance
pay and

Performance
pay and
Bonuses

Selina Douglas

Title

Salary

Name

Expense
Payments
(taxable)

2. These are the appointed executive officers under the WEL Joint Management across Tower Hamlets, Newham and Waltham Forest. Their
total remuneration across the three CCGs are as follows:
2020-21
Dates served

From

To

01/04/2020

31/03/2021

Chetan Vyas
Jennifer
Mazarelo

WEL Director of Quality
and Safety
WEL Acting Director of
Primary Care

110 115
95 100

0

0

0

25 - 27.5

0

0

0

55 - 57.5

135 140
155 160

01/04/2020

31/03/2021

01/04/2020

31/03/2021

The WEL Managing Director receives an agreed annual salary, an element of this annual salary may be reclaimed in future periods if it is
determined that objectives set for that individual have not been achieved.
The WEL Director of Commissioning and Performance’s salary includes an exit package in the region of £65,000 to £70,000, made up of
payment in lieu of notice, outstanding annual leave and legal costs.

3. These are the appointed Non-Executive officers under other sharing arrangements within WEL. Their total remuneration across the shared
organisations are as follows:

Maggie Buckell

Registered
Nurse Safeguarding
Tower
Hamlets &
Waltham
Forest CCGs

(to
(bands of
nearest
£5000)
£100)
£000
£00
15 - 20
0

Long term
Performance
pay and
bonuses
All PensionRelated
Benefits

Performance
pay and
Bonuses

Title

Dates served
Expense
Payments
(taxable)

Name

Salary

2020/21

(bands
(bands of
of
£5000)
£5000)
£000
£000
0
0
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(bands
of
£2,500)
£000
0

Total
From
(bands
of
£5000)
£000
15 - 20

To

01/04/2020 31/03/2021

Mariette Davis

4.
5.
6.
7.
8.

Lay Member
Tower
Hamlets,
Waltham
Forest and
Newham
CCGs

25 - 30

0

0

0

0

25 - 30

01/04/2020 31/03/2021

These GPs has a contract for service and the above "Salary" figure include employer pension contribution.
Salary includes remuneration for non-governing body services
Salary includes remuneration for non-governing body services in the range of £25-£30k.
No remuneration is paid to these members for their Governing Body services.
These members were in post for part of the 2020/21

**Note: Taxable expenses and benefits in kind are expressed to the nearest £100
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The table below shows the salaries and allowances of senior managers in 2019/20

1

Henry Black

2

Selina Douglas

2

Steven Collins

NELCA Accountable
NELCA Chief Finance
Officer
WEL Managing
Director GB (voting
member when Jane
Milligan not in
attendance)
Interim Director of
Finance

(to
(bands of
nearest
£5000)
£100)
£000
£00

(bands
of
£5000)
£000

(bands
of
£5000)
£000

20k to
25k
20k to
25k
45k to
50k

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

5k to 7.5k

0

0

0

45k to
50k

0

0

0

WEL CCGs Executive
Director of Finance
(GB voting member
when Henry Black not
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(bands of
£2,500)
£000

Total

Long term
Performance
pay and
bonuses
All PensionRelated
Benefits

1

Executive
Director
Jane Milligan

Title

Expense
Payments
(taxable)

Name

Salary

Note

Dates served
Performance
pay and
Bonuses

2019/20

From

To

(bands
of
£5000)
£000

01/04/2019 31/03/2020

7.5k to
10k

20k to
25k
25k to
30k
50k to
55k

10k to
12.5k

55k to
60k

01/04/2019 31/03/2020

01/04/2019 31/03/2020
01/04/2019 31/03/2020

in attendance) From 1
June 2019

2&7

Chris Neill

WEL Director of
Commissioning and
Performance
WEL Director of
Quality and Safety
WEL Director of
Corporate Services
WEL Acting Director of
Primary Care

20k to
25k

0

0

0

5k to 7.5k

30k to
35k

27/08/2019 31/03/2020

2&7

Chetan Vyas

30k to
35k
30k to
35k
15k to
20k

0

0

0

5k to 7.5k

01/05/2019 31/03/2020

0

0

0

5k to 7.5k

0

0

0

10k to
12.5k

40k to
45k
40k to
45k
25k to
30k

2&7
2&7

Satbinder
Sanghera
Jenny Mazarelo

Non Executives
Mariette Davis

3

Lay Member

0

0

0

0

Chair, Elected GP
Representative
Principal Clinical Lead
– Integrated Care
Practice Manager

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

3

Maggie Buckell

0

0

0

0

6

Denise Radley

Registered Nurse Safeguarding
Corporate Director,
Health, Adults &
Community London
Borough of Tower
Hamlets

0

0

0

0

10k to
15k
110k to
115k
65k to
70k
15k to
20k
10k to
15k
0

01/04/2019 31/03/2020

Dr Sam
Everington
Dr Victoria
Tzortziou Brown
Virginia Patania

10k to
15k
110k to
115k
65k to
70k
15k to
20k
10k to
15k
0

4&5
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01/05/2019 31/03/2020
01/10/2019 31/03/2020

01/04/2019 31/03/2020
01/04/2019 31/03/2020
01/04/2019 31/03/2020
01/04/2019 31/03/2020
01/04/2019 31/03/2020

6

Somen Banerjee

7

Dr Shah Ali

4

Dr Khyati Bakhai

5

Dr Rajivi
Sanjeevi
Linda Aldous
Noah Curthoys

Julia Slay

Director of Public
Health London
Borough of Tower
Hamlets
Deputy Chair and
Elected GP
Representative
Commissioning
Network 5 & 6
Representative
Elected GP
Representative
Practice Nurse
Vice Chair, Lay
Member Corporate
Affairs
Lay Member Patient
and Public
Involvement

0

0

0

0

0

0

01/04/2019 31/03/2020

5k to 10k

0

0

0

0

5k to 10k

01/04/2019 27/08/2019

20k to
25k

0

0

0

0

20k to
25k

01/04/2019 31/03/2020

15k to
20k
30k to
35k
10k to
15k

0

0

0

0

01/04/2019 31/03/2020

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

15k to
20k
30k to
35k
10k to
15k

10k to
15k

0

0

0

0

10k to
15k

01/04/2019 31/03/2020

01/04/2019 31/03/2020
01/04/2019 31/03/2020

1. The NEL Commissioning Alliance Accountable Officer is the appointed officer for seven CCGs: NHS Barking and Dagenham, Havering,
Redbridge, Waltham Forest, Newham, Tower Hamlets and City and Hackney. Her total salary in 2019/20 across all organisations was
Salary: £150k to £155k; Pension Related Benefits: £0k; Total: £150k to £155k. The Accountable Officer of the CCG received an agreed
annual salary. An element of this annual salary may be reclaimed in future periods if it is determined that objectives set for that
individual have not been achieved.
2. The NEL Commissioning Alliance Chief Finance Officer is the appointed officer for seven CCGs: NHS Barking and Dagenham,
Havering, Redbridge, Waltham Forest, Newham, Tower Hamlets and City and Hackney with effect from the 1st of December 2018. The
total salary for the post in 2019/20 across all organisations was Salary: £ 140k to £145k; Pension Related Benefits: £50k to £52.5k;
Total: £190k to £195k.
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3. The WEL Managing Director is the appointed officer for three CCGs - Waltham Forest, Newham, and Tower Hamlets. Her total salary in
2019/20 across the three organisations was £ 135k to £140k; Pension Related Benefits: £22.5k to £25k; Total: £155k to £160k. The
WEL Managing Director receives an agreed annual salary. An element of this annual salary may be reclaimed in future periods if it is
determined that objectives set for that individual have not been achieved.
4. These members were in post for part of the 2019/20 financial year.
5. These members are GP’s with a contract for service and salary figure includes employer pension contributions
6. Salary includes £24k for non-governing body services.
7. No remuneration is paid to these members for their Governing Body services

Pension benefits as at 31 March 2020

1
1&
2

d) Lump sum at
pension age related to
accrued pension at 31st
March 2021
e) Cash equivalent
transfer value at 1st
April 2020

h) Employer's
contribution to
stakeholder pension

Jane
Milligan
Henry
Black
Steven
Collins

g) Cash equivalent
transfer value at 31st
March 2021

1

f) Real increase in cash
equivalent transfer
value

(bands of (bands of
£2,500)
£2,500)

(bands of (bands of (to
£5,000)
£5,000)
nearest
£1,000)
£000
£000
£000
115 50 - 55
703
120

(to
nearest
£1,000)
£000

(to
nearest
£1,000)
£000

(to
nearest
£1,000)
£00

280

1,015

0

c) Total accrued
pension at pension age
at 31st March 2021

Title

b) Real increase in
pension lump sum at
pension age

Note Name

a) Real increase in
pension at pension age

2020/21

£000

£000

NELCA Accountable Officer

12.5 - 15

32.5 - 35

NELCA Accountable Officer

2.5 - 5

10 - 12.5

35 - 40

70 - 75

489

72

577

0

NELCA Chief Finance Officer

2.5 - 5

0

5 - 10

0

53

12

86

0

58

2
2
2
2
2

Jennifer
Mazarelo
Christopher
Neill
Chetan
Vyas
Satbinder
Sanghera
Christopher
Cotton

WEL Acting Director of Primary
Care
WEL Director of Commissioning
and Performance
WEL Director of Quality and
Safety
WEL Director of Corporate
Services
WEL Director of Strategy and
Transformation

2.5 - 5

2.5 - 5

30 - 35

70 - 75

561

55

639

0

0 - 2.5

0

0-5

0

13

2

20

0

0 - 2.5

0

35 - 40

70 - 75

574

20

620

0

0 - 2.5

0

60 - 65

0

918

19

962

0

2.5 - 5

0

0-5

0

0

7

23

0
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1
1

Jane Milligan
Henry Black

2

Selina
Douglas

2

Steven
Collins

2

Chris Neill

NELCA Accountable
NELCA Chief Finance
Officer
WEL Managing
Director GB (voting
member when Jane
Milligan not in
attendance)
Interim Director of
Finance
WEL CCGs Executive
Director of Finance (GB
voting member when
Henry Black not in
attendance) From 1
June 2019
WEL Director of
Commissioning and
Performance

£000
0
2.5k to 5k

£000
35k to 40k
30k to 35k

0k to 2.5k

£000
0
0k to
2.5k
0

0k to 2.5k

0k to 2.5k

Employer's
contribution to
stakeholder
pension

(bands of
£5,000)

Cash equivalent
transfer value at
31 March 2020

(bands of (bands of
£2,500)
£5,000)

Real increase in
cash equivalent
transfer value

(bands of
£2,500)

Cash equivalent
transfer value at
1 April 2019

Title

Lump sum at
pension age
related to
accrued pension

Name

Real increase in
pension at
pension age

Name

Real increase in
pension lump
sum at pension
age
Total accrued
pension at
pension age at
31 March 2020

The table below shows the pension benefits of senior managers in 2019/20.
2019/20

£000
80k to 85k
60k to 65k

(to
nearest
£1,000)
£000
899
431

(to
nearest
£1,000)
£000
0
31

(to
nearest
£1,000)
£000
703
489

(to
nearest
£1,000)
£000
0
0

10k to 15k

0

96

9

123

0

0

0k to 5k

0

25

12

53

0

0

0k to 5k

0

0

0

13

0

60

2
2
2

Chetan Vyas

WEL Director of Quality 0k to 2.5k 0
30k to 35k 70k to 75k 529
17
574
0
and Safety
Satbinder
WEL Director of
0k to 2.5k 0
60k to 65k 0
852
31
918
0
Sanghera
Corporate Services
Jenny
WEL Acting Director of 0k to 2.5k 0k to
25k to 30k 60k to 65k 483
21
561
0
Mazarelo
Primary Care
2.5k
1. The NEL Commissioning Alliance Accountable Officer and the NEL Commissioning Alliance Chief Finance Officer are the appointed
officers for seven CCGs: NHS Barking and Dagenham, Havering, Redbridge, Waltham Forest, Newham, Tower Hamlets and City and
Hackney.
2. These are the appointed executive officers under the WEL Joint Management across Tower Hamlets, Waltham Forest and Newham.
Their total pension figures are shown above.
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Cash equivalent transfer values
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits
valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable
beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and
chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown
relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total
membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which
disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in
another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension
scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result
of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost.
CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and
Faculty of Actuaries.

Real increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the
increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee (including
the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement).

Compensation on early retirement of for loss of office (subject to audit)
There were no payments for compensation on early retirement in 2020/21 (nil in 2019/20).
There were two exit packages agreed in year, please refer to the exit packages note 4.4 in
the financial statements.

Payments to past members (subject to audit)
No payments have been made to any person who was not a director at the time the payment
was made, but who had been a director previously.

Pay multiples (subject to audit)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the
highest-paid director/Member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the
organisation’s workforce.
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The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/Member in NHS Tower Hamlets CCG
in the financial year 2020/21 was £90k to £95k (2019/20: £110k to £115k). This was 7.43
times (2019/20: 7.71 times) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £12,442
(2019/20: £14,440).
In 2020/21, 1 employee received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid
director/Member. Remuneration ranged from £0 to £5k and £90k to £95k (2019/20: £0 to £5k
and £110k to £115k).
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-inkind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and
the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
There was a reduction in the range of remuneration received due to senior managers time
being split over Newham, Tower Hamlets and Waltham Forest CCGs for the duration of 12
months in 2020/21 as opposed to only sharing staff for 6 months in 2019/20 when the CCGs
first commenced the sharing of staff.
Additional guidance for this disclosure requirement is available at Annex 4 of the FReM
which cites the Hutton review of Fair Pay – Implementation Guidance.

Pension contribution rates
All staff including senior managers are eligible to join the NHS pension scheme. The scheme
has fixed the employer’s contribution at 14.38% of the individual’s salary, per NHS pension
regulations. Employee contribution rates for CCG officers and practice staff are as follows:
Full time pensionable
pay/earnings used to
determine contribution
rate
Up to £15,341.99
£15,432.00 to
£21,477.99
£21,478.00 to
£26,823.99
£26,824.00 to
£47,845.99
£47,846.00 to
£70,630.99
£70,631.00 to
£111,376.99
£111,377.00 and over

Full time pensionable
pay/earnings used to
determine contribution
rate
Up to £15,341.99
£15,432.00 to
£21,477.99
£21,478.00 to
£26,823.99
£26,824.00 to
£47,845.99
£47,846.00 to
£70,630.99
£70,631.00 to
£111,376.99
£111,377.00 and over

2020/21
5.00%
5.60%
7.10%
9.30%
12.50%
13.50%
14.50%
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2019/20
5.00%
5.60%
7.10%
9.30%
12.50%
13.50%
14.50%

B2 (2) Staff report
Staff numbers and costs
ADMIN
Permanent
Employees
£'000

PROGRAMME

Other

Total

£'000

£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

TOTAL 2020-21

Other

Total

£'000

£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other

Total

£'000

£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages

1,777

589

2,366

3,166

1,650

4,816

4,943

2,238

7,181

Social security costs
Employer contributions to
the NHS Pension Scheme
Apprenticeship Levy

206

-

206

430

-

430

636

-

636

831

-

831

487

-

487

1,318

-

1,318

46

-

46

-

-

-

46

-

46

Termination benefits
Total Employee Benefits
Expenditure

67

-

67

9

-

9

77

-

77

2,927

589

3,516

4,092

1,650

5,742

7,020

2,238

9,258

ADMIN
Permanent
Employees
£'000

PROGRAMME

Other

Total

£'000

£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

TOTAL 2019-20

Other

Total

£'000

£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other

Total

£'000

£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages

2,006

226

2,232

3,779

1,761

5,540

5,785

1,987

7,772

Social security costs
Employer contributions to
the NHS Pension Scheme
Apprenticeship Levy

207

-

207

362

-

362

569

-

569

567

-

567

396

-

396

963

-

963

26

-

26

-

-

-

26

-

26

Termination benefits
Total Employee Benefits
Expenditure

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,806

226

3,032

4,537

1,761

6,298

7,343

1,987

9,331
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Staff composition

Clinical Lead
Governing Body
Lay Member
Local Salary
VSM
Employee
Grand Total

Female
12
2
2
9
3
132
160

Full Time
Part Time
Grand Total
Gender

Female

Male

Band
Band 2
Band 3
Band 4
Band 5
Band 6
Band 7
Band 8a
Band 8b
Band 8c
Band 8d
Band 9
Local Salary
VSM
Female Total
Band 2
Band 4
Band 5
Band 6
Band 7
Band 8a
Band 8b
Band 8c
Band 8d
Band 9
Local Salary
VSM

Male
10
1
0
4
3
73
91

Grand Total
22
3
2
13
6
205
251

Headcount
186
64
251

FTE
186.00
22.46
208.46

Headcount
5
1
1
8
16
20
24
29
11
12
5
25
3
160
3
2
7
9
8
16
12
6
6
4
15
3
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FTE
3.80
1.00
1.00
7.33
15.75
18.70
22.40
28.00
11.00
11.80
4.50
4.67
3.00
132.95
2.40
2.00
6.56
8.00
7.80
15.67
11.03
6.00
6.00
3.70
3.36
3.00

Male Total
Grand Total

91
251

75.51
208.46

Based on Employee and VSM:

Disability
Disability

Headcount Percentage FTE

No

158

74.88%

151.03

Not Declared

32

15.17%

29.60

Prefer Not To Answer

5

2.37%

5.00

Yes

16

7.58%

14.80

Grand Total

211

100.00%

200.43

Disability
Yes

7.58%

Prefer Not To Answer

2.37%

Not Declared

15.17%

No

74.88%
0%

20%

40%

66

60%

80%

Ethnic Origin

Ethnic Origin

0.47%
2.37%

0.47%
0.95%

9.95%

0.95%
0.47%

2.37%

0.47%

35.07%

0.47%

5.21%
4.27%

0.47%
0.47%
1.42%

6.64%

2.84%
0.47%
0.47%

1.42%

2.37%

8.06%

1.42%

1.90% 0.95%
0.95% 0.95%

0.47%
0.47%

4.27%

0.47%

Ethnic Origin
A White - British
B White - Irish
C White - Any other White background
C2 White Northern Irish
C3 White Unspecified
CC White Welsh
CK White Italian
CP White Polish
CY White Other European
D Mixed - White & Black Caribbean
E Mixed - White & Black African
G Mixed - Any other mixed background
GA Mixed - Black & Asian
GC Mixed - Black & White
H Asian or Asian British - Indian
J Asian or Asian British - Pakistani
K Asian or Asian British - Bangladeshi
L Asian or Asian British - Any other Asian
background
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A White - British
B White - Irish
C White - Any other White background
C2 White Northern Irish
C3 White Unspecified
CC White Welsh
CK White Italian
CP White Polish
CY White Other European
D Mixed - White & Black Caribbean
E Mixed - White & Black African
G Mixed - Any other mixed background
GA Mixed - Black & Asian
GC Mixed - Black & White
H Asian or Asian British - Indian
J Asian or Asian British - Pakistani
K Asian or Asian British - Bangladeshi
L Asian or Asian British - Any other Asian background
LB Asian Punjabi
LK Asian Unspecified
M Black or Black British - Caribbean
N Black or Black British - African
P Black or Black British - Any other Black background
PA Black Somali
PC Black Nigerian
PD Black British
R Chinese
S Any Other Ethnic Group
SC Filipino
SD Malaysian
SE Other Specified
Z Not Stated

Headcount
74
5
9
1
1
1
2
2
2
4
3
3
1
1
17
6
14

Percentage
35.07%
2.37%
4.27%
0.47%
0.47%
0.47%
0.95%
0.95%
0.95%
1.90%
1.42%
1.42%
0.47%
0.47%
8.06%
2.84%
6.64%

FTE
72.03
5.00
8.80
1.00
1.00
0.40
2.00
1.56
1.80
4.00
2.40
2.80
1.00
0.80
15.55
4.90
13.40

3

1.42%

2.67

LB Asian Punjabi
LK Asian Unspecified
M Black or Black British - Caribbean
N Black or Black British - African
P Black or Black British - Any other Black
background
PA Black Somali
PC Black Nigerian
PD Black British
R Chinese
S Any Other Ethnic Group
SC Filipino
SD Malaysian
SE Other Specified
Z Not Stated
Grand Total

1
1
9
11

0.47%
0.47%
4.27%
5.21%

1.00
1.00
8.40
10.53

1
1
1
5
2
2
1
1
5
21
211

0.47%
0.47%
0.47%
2.37%
0.95%
0.95%
0.47%
0.47%
2.37%
9.95%
100.00%

1.00
1.00
1.00
5.00
1.40
2.00
0.40
1.00
5.00
20.60
200.43

Sexual Orientation

Headcount

Percentage

FTE

Bisexual

2

0.95%

1.36

Gay or Lesbian

10

4.74%

9.80

Heterosexual or Straight
171
Not stated (person asked but declined to provide a
response)
28

81.04%

163.37

13.27%

25.90

Grand Total

100.00%

200.43

Sexual Orientation

211

Sexual Orientation
Not stated (person asked but declined to
provide a response)

13.27%

81.04%

Heterosexual or Straight

4.74%

Gay or Lesbian

0.95%

Bisexual
0%

20%
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40%

60%

80%

100%

Religious Belief
Religious Belief
Atheism
Buddhism
Christianity
Hinduism
I do not wish to disclose my religion/belief
Islam
Jainism
Other
Sikhism
Grand Total

Headcount
43
3
57
7
42
32
1
18
8
211

Percentage
20.38%
1.42%
27.01%
3.32%
19.91%
15.17%
0.47%
8.53%
3.79%
100.00%

FTE
42.00
3.00
54.49
6.80
38.83
29.71
1.00
17.60
7.00
200.43

Age Range
Age Band

Headcoun
t

Percentag
e

FTE

21-25

15

7.11%

13.20

26-30

23

10.90%

21.36

31-35

40

18.96%

38.68

36-40

35

16.59%

32.90

41-45

33

15.64%

30.97

46-50

26

12.32%

25.83

51-55

24

11.37%

23.80

56-60

11

5.21%

10.50

61-65

4

1.90%

3.20

Grand Total

211

100.00%

200.44
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Age Band
20.00%

18.96%

18.00%

16.59%

15.64%

16.00%
14.00%

12.32%

12.00%

10.90%

11.37%

10.00%
8.00%

7.11%
5.21%

6.00%
4.00%

1.90%

2.00%
0.00%

Percentage
21-25

26-30

31-35

36-40

41-45

46-50

51-55

56-60

61-65

Gender
Gender

Headcount Percentage

FTE

Female
Male
Grand Total

135
76
211

128.28
72.15
200.43

Gender

36.02%

63.98%

Female
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Male

63.98%
36.02%
100.00%

Sickness absence data
DHSC has taken the decision to not commission the data production exercise (for sickness
and absence data reporting) for NHS bodies this year. Please see the link to the NHS Digital
publication series: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhssickness-absence-rates

Staff policies
Our approach to ensuring equality of opportunity in the employment of disabled people and
how we give full and fair consideration to job applications made by disabled people is set out
in several policies, particularly our recruitment and selection and absence management
policies. We offer interviews to all disabled applicants, providing their application scores
sufficiently highly against the essential criteria for the job.
Disabled employees, or those who become disabled while employed by us, are encouraged
to inform us about any ‘reasonable adjustments’ to their employment or working conditions
which they consider to be necessary or which they think would help them to carry out their
job.
We carefully consider all proposals like this and, where we can, make the adjustments.
There may however, be circumstances where it will not be reasonable or reasonably
practicable to do this and so where less favourable treatment may be justified in accordance
with the statutory provisions – this however has not happened in 2020/2021. Our policies
also outline what we do to help existing employees to continue working for us if they become
disabled, including making sure we arrange for appropriate training. They detail any other
arrangements regarding training, career development and promotion of disabled employees.

Trade Union Facility Time Reporting Requirements
Number of employees who were relevant
union officials during the relevant period

Full-time equivalent employee number

1

1
B1: Relevant union officials

Percentage of time

Number of employees

0%
1-50%

1

51%-99%
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Percentage of time

Number of employees

100%
B2: Percentage of time spent on facility time

Total cost of facility time

£1,595

Total pay bill

£79,727

Percentage of the total pay bill spent on
facility time

2%
B3: Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time

Time spent on paid trade union activities as a
percentage of total paid facility time hours

35.5 hours
B4: Paid trade union activities

Other employee matters
Employment issues including employee consultation and/or participation
The work to involve and engage with staff has continued throughout the year with even
greater important given the Covid-19 pandemic and staff having to work from home.

The national NHS Staff Survey
We participated in the national NHS Staff Survey in October/November 2020 as NELCA, but
with staff broken down into systems and directorates in those systems.
NELCA-wide work has already started to understand this year’s results of the staff survey.
Staff are in the process of providing feedback on how we might improve our organisation to
help formulate our actions plans for this coming year to further improve our organisational
and personal development offer, as well as continuing to develop our health and wellbeing
activities to support staff. Our NEL staff action group and local staff engagement groups are
also involved in identifying areas of improvement.
From our initial look at the staff survey reports we have identified some areas where we
would like to focus:
•
•
•

Continuing our work to make staff feel valued.
Improving the culture.
Supporting and empowering our middle managers to manage consistently and well.
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We want to do some more work with individual teams to understand a bit more about their
survey results and what it is that would change things for them. We are also discussing the
staff survey reports and potential action in the staff engagement group.
We are working with colleagues across north east London to make sure we share good
practice and learn from each other. We’ll also be able to reduce duplication and get
economies of scale (for example, in relation to training).

Staff engagement group
Our staff engagement group, established in June 2019, continues with people from different
teams and bands across the CCG, which meets every three to six weeks. It is a channel for
staff to provide feedback on particular issues and to raise matters for discussion. Individual
or groups of SEG members also take forward particular activities.
Topics for discussion have included, staff survey; valuing and appreciating staff; bullying and
harassment; representation on NEL group; new staff briefings; expectations of line
managers; return to the office; improving staff health and wellbeing;

Staff briefings
Currently staff briefings are done fortnightly over MS Teams, with a range of topics covered
and Slido used to enable staff to ask anonymous questions.

Staff awayday and staff awards
Due to Covid-19 restrictions the annual staff awayday was reduced to 1.5 hours and was
held over MS Teams. The event included welcome to those who started over the past few
months, tributes to colleagues who have passed away, team case studies, single CCG
update, Q&A, thank you from providers’ CEOs and staff awards.

Health and wellbeing sessions
A range of health and wellbeing virtual sessions has been held. Topics covered included
stress awareness, sleep hygiene and mindfulness, kindness in uncertain times, 5 ways to
wellbeing, resilience and change. We are also planning a mental health awareness session
and a further programme of future sessions.

Other health and wellbeing initiatives
We have held further pension clinics as part of our financial wellbeing offer. We also started
a very popular virtual quiz, signed up the organisation to the Fit 4 The Fight, shared posture
tips and various physical wellbeing resources and working from home equipment purchase
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guidance. We also shared bereavement guidance for managers and highlighted various
ways of accessing talking support, one of which includes a newly formed group of mental
health first aiders.
Relationship between management and unions
The CCG routinely engages with unions/staff-side on staff consultations, including the office
move mentioned above. In addition, a CCG director or deputy director attends the Joint
Partnership Group meeting of staff-side and management reps held at a NEL level.

Segway update
The Staff Engagement Group known as Segway (an extended acronym of staff engagement
group and a mode of transport, implying the group is a vehicle for change) was established
in August 2019 to be one of the central ways staff of Tower Hamlets, Newham and Waltham
Forest Clinical Commissioning Groups (TNW CCGs) formerly Waltham Forest and East
London (WEL) CCGs can steer and be involved in decisions that affect the workforce and
contribute to the culture and environment we seek to create. Up to three important items are
fed back to the Joint Management Team (JMT) after each meeting and the responses fed
back to the group.

Staff wellbeing during the pandemic and input for return to the office
It was agreed that the TNW Mental Health First Aiders would also support the other North
East London Clinical Commissioning Groups.
Segway were instrumental in pushing for the cycle to work scheme for staff.
Feedback from the Deloitte’s health and wellbeing webinars was mainly positive but we
asked for less reading from scripts and for more interaction and for any slides to be sent out
afterwards.
On support and protection of specific groups it was identified that a Risk Assessment Task
Group had been set up who would be looking at individual risk assessments for all staff
which includes those in the Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME) and other vulnerable
groups. There would be support for managers in the form of an interactive webinar. Also
that a BAME Network would be set up – this has taken place.
The digital kitchen was set up on Microsoft Teams (MST) to increase social interactions with
colleagues that support staff health and wellbeing and allow them to feel more connected
and satisfied with their working lives whilst working from home.
Staff have been encouraged to join active wellbeing which runs for 30 days from 18 January
– they can pledge which activities they will take part in.
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Staff were asked about new ways of working from home and future working. Their thoughts
included:

New ways of working at home
Positives
• Trying to work normal hours but with some flexibility
• Ensuring you eat healthily and taking daily exercise
• Like not having to travel to work – no transport costs/parking issues
• Adapting the home environment for effective home working
• True partnership and team working
• Grasped home working quickly
• Maintaining communications primarily via Meetings and Calls on MST
• Ability to separate working and non-working time
Negatives
• Some people feel isolated
• Working more hours than normal
• Working in a small environment
• A feeling of being confined/restricted indoors
Future working (on return to the office)
• To change some face to face meetings to MST
• To keep meetings concise
• Allow more time for working from home and amend policy
• Phased return
• Minimise hot desking and providing keyboard cleaners
• To stop work that does not add value.
A NEL Return to Workplace Working Group was set up but has been stood down until
needed. Staff can recoup home office furniture payments but these items remain the
property of the CCG. Additionally Segway had commented on the impressive refit plans for
Beaumont House on the Mile End site but this project was also stood down.
Segway agreed they would be in support of a one hour session on infection and prevention
control focussing on safely returning to the workplace.

Lessons learnt from WEL transition
There had been a number of issues during the WEL transition and improvements needed
were training for managers on how to lead organisational change and writing job
descriptions, better staff engagement, improved planning and allowance for more realistic
timescales and regular data cleanse of HR data.
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Segway raised the importance of the WEL transition lessons learnt report to JMT to ensure
actions were followed up, that communication is clear and consistent between teams and
that feedback is responded to and all actions taken into account for the NEL transition.

Coffee Roulette
Staff were asked if they were interested in joining Coffee Roulette – this is where staff from
different teams meet up, initially this was face to face but latterly virtually. Staff got to know
each other and this made a nice break in the day. We are hoping to extend this across NEL.
Staff Survey
The 2020 NHS staff survey launched in October 2020. It was an opportunity for staff to get
involved and have their say. The group encouraged their team members to complete the
survey and the Segway Chair also recorded a video to encourage staff to do so. The Group
have asked JMT not to dilute the results so a true picture can be obtained and Segway will
take a key role over the coming months in acting on the results.

Organisational culture and links with Organisational Development (OD)
Following the NEL Transition webinar where the issue of poor culture was discussed, it was
felt it would be useful to have a discussion about positive actions that could help.
Suggestions included:
New starter induction
Regular reviews with line managers to include discussions on how things could be improved
Intranet to have clear link to vision and values of the organisation
A Staff Charter to capture the values-led expectations of people
The OD Plan comprises a number of themes which include the development of better
culture, supportive policies and processes, transparent and effective learning and
development for all staff and a wellbeing plan.
There was discussion around training for managers. However the group reiterated the need
for training to be available to all and to ensure those that don’t necessarily realise they may
need it are encouraged to undertake training.
Table 1: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months
For all off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2021 for more than £245 per day and that
last longer than six months:
Number
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2021

17

Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting

76

8

for between one and two years at the time of reporting

4

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting

1

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting

1

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting

3

CCG confirms that all existing off-payroll engagements have at some point been subject to a
risk-based assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is paying the
right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought.
Table 2: New off-payroll engagements
Where the reformed public sector rules apply, entities must complete Table 2 for all new offpayroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between 1 April 2020
and 31 March 2021, for more than £245 per day and that last for longer than 6 months:
Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021

12

Of which:
Number assessed as caught by IR35

2

Number assessed as not caught by IR35

10

Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and are on
the departmental payroll
Number of engagements reassessed for consistency / assurance
purposes during the year
Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following the
consistency review

0
10
0

Table 3: Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements
For any off-payroll engagements of Board members and / or senior officials with significant
financial responsibility, between 01 April 2020 and 31 March 2021
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or
senior officers with significant financial responsibility, during the
0
financial year (1)
Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been
deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with significant
42
financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure should
include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements. (2)
Note
1. There should only be a very small number of off-payroll engagements of board
members and/or senior officials with significant financial responsibility, permitted only
in exceptional circumstances and for no more than six months
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2. As both on payroll and off-payroll engagements are included in the total figure, no
entries here should be blank or zero.
In any cases where individuals are included within the first row of this table the department
should set out:
• Details of the exceptional circumstances that led to each of these arrangements.
• Details of the length of time each of these exceptional engagements lasted.
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Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments (subject to audit)
Table 1: Exit Packages
Exit package
cost band
(inc. any
special
payment
element

Number of
compulsory
redundancies

WHOLE
NUMBERS
ONLY

Cost of
compulsory
redundancies

Number of
other
departures
agreed

Cost of other
departures
agreed

WHOLE
NUMBER
S ONLY
1

Total
number of
exit
packages

WHOLE
NUMBERS
ONLY

Total cost of
exit
packages

Number of
departures
where
special
payments
have been
made
WHOLE
NUMBERS
ONLY

Cost of special
payment
element
included in exit
packages

£s
£s
£s
£s
Less than
9,410
£10,000
£10,000 £25,000
£25,001 £50,000
£50,001 1
67,295
£100,000
£100,001 £150,000
£150,001 –
£200,000
>£200,000
TOTALS
2
76, 705
Redundancy and other departure cost have been paid in accordance with the provisions of Agenda for Change. Exit costs in this note are
accounted for in full in the year of departure. Where the NHS Tower Hamlets CCG has agreed early retirements, the additional costs are met by
the NHS Tower Hamlets CCG and not by the NHS Pensions Scheme. Ill-health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pensions Scheme and are
not included in the table

79

Table 2: Analysis of Other Departures
Agreements
Number
Voluntary redundancies
including early retirement
contractual costs
Mutually agreed resignations
(MARS) contractual costs
Early retirements in the
efficiency of the service
contractual costs
Contractual payments in lieu
of notice*
Exit payments following
Employment Tribunals or
court orders
Non-contractual payments
requiring HMT approval**
TOTAL

Total Value of agreements
£000s

2

77

2

77

As a single exit package can be made up of several components each of which will be
counted separately in this Note, the total number above will not necessarily match the total
numbers in Table 1, which will be the number of individuals.
*any non-contractual payments in lieu of notice are disclosed under “non-contracted
payments requiring HMT approval” below.
**includes any non-contractual severance payment made following judicial mediation, and
amounts relating to non-contractual payments in lieu of notice.
No non-contractual payments were made to individuals where the payment value was more
than 12 months’ of their annual salary.
The Remuneration Report includes disclosure of exit packages payable to individuals named
in that Report.
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B3 Parliamentary Accountability and Audit
Report
Tower Hamlets CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit
Report.
Where relevant, disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments,
gifts, and fees and charges are included as notes in the Financial Statements of this report
at Section C. The disclosure on losses and special payments is at note 18.
An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at section B3(1) below.

B3(1) Audit Certificate and Report
Independent auditor’s report to the members of the governing body of NHS
North East London Clinical Commissioning Group in respect of NHS Tower
Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group Report on the audit of the financial
statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning
Group (“the CCG”) for the year ended 31 March 2021 which comprise the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Changes in
Taxpayers’ Equity and Statement of Cash Flows, and the related notes, including the
accounting policies in note 1.
In our opinion the financial statements:
•
•

give a true and fair view of the state of the CCG’s affairs as at 31 March 2021 and of
its income and expenditure for the year then ended; and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the accounting policies directed by
NHS England with the consent of the Secretary of State as being relevant to CCGs in
England and included in the Department of Health and Social Care Group
Accounting Manual 2020/21.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs
(UK)”) and applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our
ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the CCG in accordance with, UK
ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of matter - Going concern
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We draw attention to the disclosure made in note 1.1 to the financial statements which
explains that on 1 April 2021, NHS Tower Hamlets CCG was dissolved and its services were
transferred to the newly formed NHS North East London CCG. Under the continuation of
service principle NHS Tower Hamlets CCG is a going concern and the financial statements
of the CCG have been prepared on a going concern basis because its services will continue
to be provided by the successor CCG. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations – ability to detect
Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud
To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (“fraud risks”) we assessed events or
conditions that could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an
opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk assessment procedures included:
•

•

•
•
•

Enquiring of management, the Audit Committee and internal audit and inspection of
policy documentation as to the CCG’s high-level policies and procedures to prevent
and detect fraud, including the internal audit function, and the CCG’s channel for
“whistleblowing”, as well as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected
or alleged fraud.
Assessing the incentives for management to manipulate reported expenditure as a
result of the need to achieve statutory targets delegated to the CCG by NHS
England.
Reading Governing Body and Audit Committee minutes.
Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships.
Reviewing the CCG’s accounting policies.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any
indications of fraud throughout the audit.
As required by auditing standards, and taking into account possible pressures to meet
delegated statutory resource limits, we performed procedures to address the risk of
management override of controls, in particular the risk that CCG management may be in a
position to make inappropriate accounting entries and the risk of bias in accounting
estimates and judgements such as accruals and provisions.
On this audit we did not identify a fraud risk related to revenue recognition because of the
nature of funding provided to the CCG, which is transferred from NHS England and
recognised through the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity. However, in line with
the guidance set out in Practice Note 10 ‘Audit of Financial Statements of Public Sector
Bodies in the United Kingdom’ we recognised a fraud risk related to expenditure recognition.
We did not identify any additional fraud risks.
In determining the audit procedures, we took into account the results of our evaluation and
testing of the operating effectiveness of some of CCG-wide fraud risk management controls.
We also performed procedures including:
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•

•
•

Identifying journal entries and other adjustments to test based on risk criteria and
comparing the identified entries to supporting documentation. These included
journals posted by senior members of staff, journals with unusual debit or credit
entries to cash or borrowings, journals posted around year end submission dates
and journals posted after year end that adjusted expenditure.
Assessing the completeness of disclosed related party transactions and verifying
they had been accurately recorded within the financial statements.
Assessing a sample of year end accruals to confirm that they had been
appropriately recorded.

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to noncompliance with laws and regulations
We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a
material effect on the financial statements from our general sector experience and through
discussion with the directors and other management (as required by auditing standards),
and discussed with the directors and other management the policies and procedures
regarding compliance with laws and regulations.
As the CCG is regulated, our assessment of risks involved gaining an understanding of the
control environment including the entity’s procedures for complying with regulatory
requirements.
We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to
any indications of non-compliance throughout the audit.
The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies
considerably.
The CCG is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements
including financial reporting legislation. Under the NHS Act 2006, as amended by paragraph
223I1 (3) of Section 27 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012, the CCG must ensure that
its revenue resource allocation in any financial year does not exceed the amount specified
by NHS England. Expenditure in excess of the amount specified is unlawful.
We assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our
procedures on the related financial statement items and our work on the regularity of
expenditure incurred by the CCG in the year of account.
Whilst the CCG is subject to many other laws and regulations, we did not identify any others
where the consequences of non-compliance alone could have a material effect on amounts
or disclosures in the financial statements.

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or
regulation
Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not
have detected some material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we
have properly planned and performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards. For
example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events
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and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited
procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.
In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as
these may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal controls. Our audit procedures are designed to detect material
misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance or fraud and cannot be
expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

Other information in the Annual Report
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information presented in the Annual
Report together with the financial statements. Our opinion on the financial statements does
not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or,
except as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based
on our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or
inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:
we have not identified material misstatements in the other information; and
in our opinion the other information included in the Annual Report for the financial year is
consistent with the financial statements.

Annual Governance Statement
We are required to report to you if the Annual Governance Statement has not been prepared
in accordance with the requirements of the Department of Health and Social Care Group
Accounting Manual 2020/21. We have nothing to report in this respect.

Remuneration and Staff Reports
In our opinion the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Reports subject to audit have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Department of Health and Social Care Group
Accounting Manual 2020/21.

Accountable Officer’s responsibilities
As explained more fully in the statement set out on page 26, the Accountable Officer is
responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view. They
are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error; assessing the CCG’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless they have been informed by the relevant national body of the intention to
dissolve the CCG without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity.

Auditor’s responsibilities
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
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considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.
A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities

Report on other legal and regulatory matters
Opinion on regularity
We are required to report on the following matters under Section 25(1) of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014.
In our opinion, in all material respects, the expenditure and income recorded in the financial
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.

Report on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report if we identify any significant
weaknesses in the arrangements that have been made by the CCG to secure economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
We have nothing to report in this respect.

Respective responsibilities in respect of our review of arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources
As explained more fully in the statement set out on page 26, the Accountable Officer is
responsible for ensuring that the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically. We are required under section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources are
operating effectively.
We planned our work and undertook our review in accordance with the Code of Audit
Practice and related statutory guidance, having regard to whether the CCG had proper
arrangements in place to ensure financial sustainability, proper governance and to use
information about costs and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its
services. Based on our risk assessment, we undertook such work as we considered
necessary.

Statutory reporting matters
We are required by Schedule 2 to the Code of Audit Practice issued by the Comptroller and
Auditor General (‘the Code of Audit Practice’) to report to you if we refer a matter to the
Secretary of State and NHS England under section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is
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about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body incurring
unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if
followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency.
We have nothing to report in this respect.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities
This report is made solely to the Members of the Governing Body of NHS North East London
CCG, in respect of NHS Tower Hamlets CCG, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the Members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, those matters we
are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Members of the Governing Body, as a body, for our audit work, for this report or for the
opinions we have formed.

Certificate of completion of the audit
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Tower Hamlets CCG for
the year ended 31 March 2021 in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.

Dean Gibbs
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP,
Chartered Accountants, 15 Canada Square, London E14 5GL
16 June 2021
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Section C. ANNUAL ACCOUNTS

Henry Black
Acting Accountable Officer
11 June 2021
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Data entered below will be used throughout the workbook:

Entity name:
This year
Last year
This year ended
Last year ended
This year commencing:
Last year commencing:

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG
2020-21
2019-20
31-March-2021
31-March-2020
01-April-2020
01-April-2019
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2021

Note

2020-21
£'000

2019-20
£'000

Other Operating Income
Total Operating Income

2

(23,489)
(23,489)

(8,559)
(8,559)

Staff Costs
Purchase of Goods and Services
Depreciation and Impairment Charges
Provision Expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Total Operating Expenditure

4
5
5
5
5

9,258
720,710
32
52
317
730,369

9,331
470,820
31
299
480,481

Net Operating Expenditure

706,880

471,922

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year

706,880

471,922

The notes on pages 94 to 115 form part of this statement
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Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2021

Note

2020-21

2019-20

£'000

£'000

Non-current assets:
Property, Plant and Equipment
Total non-current assets

8

28
28

60
60

Current assets:
Trade and Other Receivables
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Total current assets

9
10

13,280
13,280

14,893
91
14,984

Total current assets

13,280

14,984

Total assets

13,308

15,044

(132,039)
(152)
(125)
(132,316)

(91,380)
(73)
(91,453)

Total Assets less Current Liabilities

(119,008)

(76,409)

Assets less Liabilities

(119,008)

(76,409)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General Fund
Total Taxpayers' Equity

(119,008)
(119,008)

(76,409)
(76,409)

Current liabilities
Trade and Other Payables
Bank Overdraft
Provisions
Total current liabilities

11
12
13

The notes on pages 94 to 115 form part of this statement
The financial statements on pages 90 to 93 were approved by the Governing Body on 9 June 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Acting Accountable Officer
Henry Black
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2021

General fund
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity for 2020-21
(76,409)
(76,409)

(76,409)
(76,409)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2020-21
Net Operating Expenditure for the Financial Year

(706,880)

(706,880)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial year Net
funding
Balance at 31 March 2021

(706,880)
664,281
(119,008)

(706,880)
664,281
(119,008)

Balance at 01 April 2020
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2020

General fund
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity for 2019-20
(63,124)
(63,124)

(63,124)
(63,124)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20
Net Operating Costs for the Financial Year

(471,922)

(471,922)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year Net
Funding
Balance at 31 March 2020

(471,922)
458,637
(76,409)

(471,922)
458,637
(76,409)

Balance at 01 April 2019
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2020

The notes on pages 94 to 115 form part of this statement
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2021
Note

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net Operating Expenditure for the Financial Year
Depreciation and Amortisation
(Increase)/Decrease in Trade & Other Receivables
Increase/(Decrease) in Trade & Other Payables
Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

5
9
11
13

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Payments for Property, Plant and Equipment
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities

11

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

10

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including Bank Overdrafts) at the End of the Financial
Year

The notes on pages 94 to 115 form part of this statement
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2020-21
£'000

2019-20
£'000

(706,880)
32
1,613
40,747
52
(664,436)

(471,922)
31
(4,462)
17,762
(458,591)

(88)
(88)

-

(664,524)

(458,591)

664,281
664,281

458,637
458,637

(243)

46

91
(152)

45
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Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of NHS Tower Hamlets CCG shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group Accounting
Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
Group Accounting Manual 2020-21 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting
Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as
determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of
accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of NHS Tower Hamlets CCG for the
purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by NHS Tower Hamlets CCG are described below. They have
been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by
inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by
another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of financial statements. If services will continue to
be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG was dissolved on 31 March 2021 having joined with 6 Other CCGs (NHS Barking & Dagenham CCG, NHS City & Hackney
CCG, NHS Havering CCG, NHS Newham CCG, NHS Redbridge CCG and NHS Waltham Forest CCG) to establish NHS North East London CCG with
effect from 1 April 2021. More detail on the merger is shown in note 19 (Events after the end of the reporting period) but as the services provided by the
existing CCGs will continue under the merged organisation, the going concern principle is satisfied.

1.2

Joint arrangements
Arrangements over which the NHS Tower Hamlets CCG has joint control with one or more other entities are classified as joint arrangements. Joint control
is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement. A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture.
A joint operation exists where the parties that have joint control have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement.
Where NHS Tower Hamlets CCG is a joint operator it recognises its share of, assets, liabilities, income and expenses in its own accounts.
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG operates a Better Care Fund under as Section 75 agreement with the London Borough of Tower Hamlets. This joint operation
involves shared investment and decision making between the CCG and Local Authority
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement. Joint
ventures are recognised as an investment and accounted for using the equity method.
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG has no joint venture activities.

1.3

1.3.1

1.4

Pooled Budgets
Where NHS Tower Hamlets CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006. NHS Tower Hamlets CCG
accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the
pooled budget agreement.
Better Care Fund
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG Better Care Fund Plan was confirmed by NHS England on 7th January 2015. The plan was in effect from 1st April 2015 and
2020/21 costs are included in the Note 16.1 Better Care Fund.
Revenue
In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. These are as follows:
• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the clinical commissioning group will not disclose information regarding performance obligations part of a contract
that has an original expected duration of one year or less,
• NHS Tower Hamlets CCG is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient offered in paragraph
B16 of the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the performance completed to date.
• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of the Standard that requires NHS Tower Hamlets CCG to reflect the
aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial application.
The main source of funding for NHS Tower Hamlets CCG is from NHS England. This is drawn down and credited to the general fund. Funding is
recognised in the period in which it is received.
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised services to the
customer, and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation.
Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year, that income is deferred.
Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles.
The value of the benefit received when NHS Tower Hamlets CCG accesses funds from the Government’s apprenticeship service are recognised as income
in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training provider, non-cash income
and a corresponding non-cash training expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded.
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1.5

Employee Benefits

1.5.1

Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which the
service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are
permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.5.2

Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that
cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The schemes are
not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the
schemes are accounted for as if they were a defined contribution scheme; the cost recognised in these accounts represents the contributions payable for
the year. Details of the benefits payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the
additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of
payment.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.
1.6

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair value of
the consideration payable.

1.7

Property, Plant & Equipment

1.7.1

Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
·
It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
·
It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;
·
It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
·
The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
·
The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
·
Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally
interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial
control.

1.7.2

Measurement
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing
it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
IT equipment that are held for operational use are valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have short useful economic lives or low values or
both, as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing use.

1.7.3

1.7.4

Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent
expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out
and charged to operating expenses.
Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment, less any residual value, over their
estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an
asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to
the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each
year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis.

At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its property, plant and equipment assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there
has been a loss and, if so, its amount.
1.8

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

1.8.1

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG as Lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a liability
and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are operating or
finance leases.
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1.9

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are
investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of
change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part
of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.

1.10

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when NHS Tower Hamlets CCG has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the
clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount
recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rates.
Where the liability is expected to fall due within 12 months, no discount has been applied.

1.11

Clinical Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which NHS Tower Hamlets CCG pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution, which in return
settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all clinical
negligence cases, the legal liability remains with NHS Tower Hamlets CCG.

1.12

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under
which NHS Tower Hamlets CCG pays an annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising.
The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they
become due.

1.13

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is not recognised
because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A
contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic
benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingent liabilities and contingent assets are disclosed at their present value.

1.14

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when NHS Tower Hamlets CCG becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables,
when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been
transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·
Financial assets at amortised cost;
·
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ;
·
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at the
time of initial recognition.

1.14.1

Financial Assets at Amortised cost
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows and
where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade receivables and other simple debt instruments. After initial
recognition these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

1.14.2

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.

1.14.3

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets measure at fair value through profit and loss are those that are not otherwise measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income. This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.
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1.14.4

Impairment
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (except equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the clinical commissioning group recognises a loss allowance representing
the expected credit losses on the financial asset.
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss allowance for trade
receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. For other financial assets, the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month expected credit losses (stage 1).
HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against other government departments, their
executive agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets where repayment is ensured by primary legislation. The clinical
commissioning group therefore does not recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. Additionally Department of
Health and Social Care provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the clinical commissioning
group does not recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the reporting date are measured as the
difference between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original
effective interest rate. Any adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

1.15

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual provisions
of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when
the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.15.1

Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
·
The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,
·
The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets.

1.15.2

Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate value
cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss
recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial liability.

1.15.3

Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for loans from Department of
Health and Social Care, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

1.16

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of NHS Tower Hamlets CCG are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is
not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where
output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.17

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. By
their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments.
They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been
made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as
normal revenue expenditure).

1.18

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of NHS Tower Hamlets CCG's accounting policies, management is required to make various judgements, estimates and assumptions.
These are regularly reviewed.

1.18.1

Critical accounting judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning
group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG made no judgements that would have a material effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

1.18.2

Sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are assumptions about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG had no material key sources of estimation uncertainty.

1.19

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Department of Health and Social Care GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2020-21. These
Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 2022/23, and the government implementation date for
IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury consideration.
● IFRS 16 Leases – The Standard is effective 1 April 2022 as adapted and interpreted by the FReM.
● IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early
adoption is not therefore permitted.
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG has commenced the assessment of the application of IFRS 16 to its financial statements. This commenced with work to identify
leases which are currently operating leases and should be reclassified as finance leases as well as a broader review of recurring expenditure streams
where right to use assets may be embedded in contracting arrangements. The work has progressed to March 2020, when the CCG revised it operational
priorities and working patterns to deal with the COVID19 pandemic and combined with the decision to defer the implementation of IFRS16 in the NHS to 1
April 2022 means that it has not been practical to complete this work or present it for audit. The work to identify the impact of this standard is expected to
recommence in Autumn 2021.
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2 Other Operating Revenue
2020-21
Total

2019-20
Total

£'000

£'000

Other operating income
Other Non Contract Revenue
Total Other Operating Income

23,489
23,489

8,559
8,559

Total Operating Income

23,489

8,559

The increase in income in 2020/21 relates predominantly to NHS Tower Hamlets CCG role as host to
the ICS, whereby income streams flow to the CCG for system contributions to the North East London
Integrated Care System as well as income streams for projects such as Local Heath and Care
Record Exemplars, Out of Hospital Support and software licenses.
3.1 Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of good and services (contracts)

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG had £nil contract income from the sale of goods or services.
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and Wages
Social Security Costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination Benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

2020-21

Other
£'000

4,943
636
1,318
46
77
7,020

2,238
2,238

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and Wages
Social Security Costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination Benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

5,786
569
963
26
7,344
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Total
£'000
7,181
636
1,318
46
77
9,258

2019-20

Other
£'000
1,987
1,987

Total
£'000
7,773
569
963
26
9,331
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4.2 Average Number of People Employed

2020-21
Permanently
Employed
Number
Total

2019-20

Other
Number

90

Permanently
Employed
Number

Total
Number
17

107

Other
Number

100

Total
Number
20

120

4.3 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
Over £100,001
Total

2020-21
Compulsory redundancies
Number
£
-

-

2020-21
Other agreed departures
Number
£
1
9,410
1
67,295
2
76,705

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
Over £100,001
Total

2019-20
Compulsory redundancies
Number
£
-

-

2019-20
Other agreed departures
Number
£
-

-

2020-21
Other agreed departures
Number
£
2
76,705
2
76,705

2019-20
Other agreed departures
Number
£
-

-

2020-21
Total
Number

£

1
1
2

9,410
67,295
76,705

2019-20
Total
Number

£

-

-

Analysis of Other Agreed Departures

Contractual Payments in Lieu of Notice
Total

These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. The expense associated with these departures may have been recognised in part or in full in a previous
period.
Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the year of departure.
The Remuneration Report includes the disclosure of exit payments payable to individuals named in that Report.
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4.5 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and
rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined
benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State
for Health and Social Care in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to
identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined
contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that
scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be
determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall
be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:

4.5.1 Accounting valuation

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at
the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial
reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2021, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2020,
updated to 31 March 2021 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the
methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been
used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the
annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published
annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
4.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account
recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this
valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 20.6% of pensionable pay. The 2016 funding valuation was
also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap that was set following the 2012 valuation. In January
2019, the Government announced a pause to the cost control element of the 2016 valuations, due to the uncertainty around
member benefits caused by the discrimination ruling relating to the McCloud case.
The Government subsequently announced in July 2020 that the pause had been lifted, and so the cost control element of the 2016
valuations could be completed. The Government has set out that the costs of remedy of the discrimination will be included in this
process. HMT valuation directions will set out the technical detail of how the costs of remedy will be included in the valuation
process. The Government has also confirmed that the Government Actuary is reviewing the cost control mechanism (as was
originally announced in 2018). The review will assess whether the cost control mechanism is working in line with original
government objectives and reported to Government in April 2021. The findings of this review will not impact the 2016 valuations,
with the aim for any changes to the cost cap mechanism to be made in time for the completion of the 2020 actuarial valuations.
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5. Operating Expenses
2020-21
Total
£'000
Purchase of Goods and Services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from Foundation Trusts
* Services from Other NHS Trusts
Services from Other WGA Bodies
Purchase of Healthcare from non-NHS Bodies
Prescribing Costs
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
# Supplies and Services – General
Consultancy Services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
^ Audit Fees
Other non Statutory Audit Expenditure
·
Other Services
Other Professional Fees
Legal Fees
Education, Training and Conferences
Total Purchase of Goods and Services

2019-20
Total
£'000

7,751
110,669
404,297
8
65,987
34,119
52,404
35,288
983
3,322
4,598
57

5,058
97,799
205,792
10
65,492
30,729
48,657
7,091
705
467
3
8,083
54

7
1,244
(61)
37
720,710

9
773
98
470,820

Depreciation and impairment charges
Depreciation
Total Depreciation and impairment charges

32
32

31
31

Provision Expense
Provisions
Total Provision Expense

52
52

-

321
(4)
317

174
5
120
299

721,111

471,150

Other Operating Expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members
Expected Credit Loss on Receivables
Other Expenditure
Total Other Operating Expenditure
Total Operating Expenditure

* A significant increase in Services from other NHS trusts of £198.5m in 20/21 compared to last financial year. This is due to Tower Hamlets CCG acting as the host for ICS payments covering
Provider Covid and Deficit funding. 97% of the expenditure increase relating to ICS payments.

# A significant increase in Supplies and services – general of £28.2m in 20/21 compared to last financial year. This related to Service Development Fund (SDF) projects covering the seven CCGs
in North East London, additional costs of backlog elective activity, overseas patients, practice rent reviews in primary care and Covid expenditure
^ Fees paid and payable to the CCG's external auditor, KPMG are:

2020/21

Audit Fee
VAT Payable

Statutory Audit
Services
£000
47
10
57

Other services Audit Related
Assurance Service
£000
6
1
7

2019/20
Other services Audit Related
Assurance
Statutory Audit
Service
Services
£000
£000
45
8
9
1
54
9

In accordance with SI 2008 no.489, The Companies (Disclosure of Auditor Remuneration and Liability Limitation Agreements) Regulations 2008 , the CCG is
required to disclose the limit of its auditors liability. The contract signed states that the liability of KPMG, its members, partners and staff (whether in contract,
negligence, or otherwise) shall in no circumstances exceed £500k, aside from where the liability cannot be limited by law. This is in aggregate in respect of all
services. The audit fee disclosed above excluding VAT is £47,450.

The CCG is required to obtain assurance from the external auditors over reported compliance with the requirements of the Mental Health Investment Standard.
The CCG has been invoiced for £6k (excl. VAT) in relation to this work to be completed for 2020/21, however, the final fee is yet to be confirmed.
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2020-21
Number

2020-21
£'000

2019-20
Number

2019-20
£'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

7,753
7,259
93.63%

137,834
127,984
92.85%

8,812
8,551
97.04%

123,362
121,041
98.12%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

1,855
1,726
93.05%

500,194
497,928
99.55%

3,272
3,157
96.49%

327,412
326,749
99.80%

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG incurred no interest charged for late payment of invoices under the Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998.
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7. Operating Leases
7.1 As lessee
7.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense

2020-21
Total
£'000

Buildings
£'000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Total

2,231
2,231

Buildings
£'000

2,231
2,231

1,540
1,540

2019-20
Total
£'000
1,540
1,540

The increase in operating lease expenditure in 2020/21 (operating lease expenditure £2,231k) in comparison to 2019/20
(operating lease expenditure £1,540k) is primarily due to the lease for a new headquarter building sitting with Tower Hamlets

7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments

2020-21
Total
£'000

Buildings
£'000
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

53
35
88

Buildings
£'000
53
35
88

2019-20
Total
£'000

276
276

276
276

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG entered into an operating lease arrangement with Barts Health NHS Trust as lessee of the Alderney
Building. The annual payment was £275,978. This lease was terminated in Dec 2020.

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG occupies property owned and managed by Community Health Partnerships Ltd and NHS Property
Services Ltd. since 2013-14, a transitional occupancy rent based on annual property cost allocations was agreed. While our
arrangements with Community Health Partnerships Ltd and NHS Property Services Ltd fall within the definition of operating
leases, the rental charge for future years has not yet been agreed. Consequently, this note does not include future minimum
lease payments for these arrangements.
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8 Property, plant and equipment

Information
technology
£'000
95
95

2020-21
Cost or valuation at 01 April 2020
Additions purchased
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2021

Total
£'000
95
95

Depreciation 01 April 2020

35

35

Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2021

32
67

32
67

Net Book Value at 31 March 2021

28

28

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2021

28
28

28
28

Owned

28

28

Total at 31 March 2021

28

28

Minimum Life
(years)
1

Maximum Life
(Years)
1

Asset financing:

8.1 Economic lives

Information technology
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9.1 Trade and other receivables

Current
2020-21
£'000

Current
2019-20
£'000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income
Expected credit loss allowance-receivables
VAT
Other receivables and accruals
Total Trade & other receivables

4,725
5,153
2,263
43
784
312
13,280

7,532
1,236
618
575
4,615
(5)
312
10
14,893

Total current and non current

13,280

14,893

2020-21
Non DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
2,236
2,236

2019-20
Non DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
477
57
321
855

9.2 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

Trade and other
receivables - Non
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
(5)
5
(0)

9.3 Loss allowance on asset classes
Balance at 01 April 2020
Lifetime expected credit losses on trade and other receivables-Stage 2
Lifetime expected credit losses on trade and other receivables-Stage 3
Total
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Total
£'000
(5)
5
(0)
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10 Cash and cash equivalents
2020-21
£'000
91
(243)
(152)

2019-20
£'000
45
46
91

-

91
91

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service
Total bank overdrafts

(152)
(152)

-

Balance at 31 March 2021

(152)

91

Balance at 01 April 2020
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2021
Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

The overdraft is a technical one owing to a BACS run processed on 31st March that was paid from the bank account on 7th
April 2021 after the receipt of the following month's cash from NHS England on 1st April 2021
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Current
2020-21
£'000

11 Trade and Other Payables

Current
2019-20
£'000

NHS payables: Revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Capital
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Social security costs
Tax
Payments received on account
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

8,565
24,821
6,851
51,893
221
203
39,485
132,039

11,176
5,863
10,548
88
42,541
138
128
3
20,895
91,380

Total current and non-current

132,039

91,380

Other payables include £547,339 outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2021 (£496,607 at 31st March 2020)
Large increase in payables is due to:
NHS Accruals - £10.2m of ICS deficit support funding and £8.5m of ICS inventory support funding
Non NHS and Other Payables and Accruals - Backlog of elective activity, prescribing, practice rent review and primary care
contracts

Current
2020-21
£'000

12 Bank Overdrafts

Current
2019-20
£'000

Bank overdrafts:
·
Government banking service
Total overdrafts

152
152

-

Total Bank Overdrafts

152

-

Total current and non-current

152

-

Other
2020-21
£'000
152

Total
2020-21
£'000
152

152

152

26.1 Repayment of principal falling due

Within one year
Total

108

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG - Annual Accounts 2020-21

13 Provisions
Current
2020-21
£'000

Current
2019-20
£'000

Legal claims
Other
Total

35
90
125

73
73

Total current and non-current

125

73

Legal Claims
£'000
Balance at 01 April 2020

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

-

73

73

Arising during the year
Balance at 31 March 2021

35
35

17
90

52
125

Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Balance at 31 March 2021

35
35

90
90

125
125

The “other” cost reflects potential dilapidation charges that will arise under existing contracts should CCG’s exit from their existing headquarters. Potential
costs across Newham, Tower Hamlets and Waltham Forest CCG’s have been accounted for in equal shares under the terms of Memorandum of
Understanding in place to manage the impact of Transition.
Legal claims relate to the potential legal fees likely to be incurred as a result of an ongoing case, as noted in the other provision described above.

14 Contingencies
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG has no contingent liabilities or assets at 31 March 2021 (£nil at 31 March 2020).
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15 Financial instruments
15.1 Financial risk management

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because NHS Tower Hamlets CCG is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by
business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed
companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The Tower Hamlets CCG has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus
funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing
the Tower Hamlets CCG in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within NHS Tower Hamlets
CCG standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by NHS Tower Hamlets
CCG and internal auditors.
15.1.1 Currency risk

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK
and sterling based. NHS Tower Hamlets CCG has no overseas operations. NHS Tower Hamlets CCG and therefore has low exposure to
currency rate fluctuations.

15.1.2 Credit risk

Because the majority of NHS Tower Hamlets CCG and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS Tower Hamlets CCG has low exposure
to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and
other receivables note.
15.1.3 Liquidity risk

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted
annually by Parliament. NHS Tower Hamlets CCG draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. NHS Tower Hamlets CCG is
not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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15 Financial instruments cont'd
15.2 Financial assets
Financial Assets
measured at
amortised cost
2020-21
£'000

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
Cash and cash equivalents
Total at 31 March 2021

8,204
2,228
2,493
12,925

Total
2020-21
£'000
8,204
2,228
2,493
12,925

15.3 Financial liabilities
Financial Liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
2020-21
£'000

Loans with external bodies
Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other payables with external bodies
Total at 31 March 2021

152
10,046
29,247
92,323
131,768

16 Operating segments
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG has only one segment: commissioning of healthcare services
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2020-21
£'000
152
10,046
29,247
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17 Joint arrangements - interests in joint operations
CCGs should disclose information in relation to joint arrangements in line with the requirements in IFRS 12 - Disclosure of interests in other entities.

17.1 Interests in joint operations

Name of arrangement

Parties to the
arrangement

Description of
principal
activities

Assets

London Borough
of Tower Hamlets

Better Care Fund

Amounts recognised in Entities books ONLY

2020-21

2019-20

Liabilities

£'000

Better Care Fund

Amounts recognised in Entities books ONLY

Income

£'000

-

£'000

-

-

17.1.1 Pooled budgets
The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group shares of the income and expenditure handled by thepooled budget in the financial year were:

Income
Expenditure

2020-21
£000
28,612

2019-20
£000
27,172

17.1.2 Better Care Fund
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG's share of the income and expenditure handled by the Better Care Fund in the financial year were:

Income
Expenditure

2020-21
£000
28,612

2019-20
£000
27,172

On 1st April 2019 NHS Tower Hamlets CCG entered into a section 75 pooled budget arrangement with London
Borough of Tower Hamlets Local Authority. In line with IFRS 11 joint control over the pooled funds exists. The CCG
and the Local Authority have entered into commissioning arrangements whereby the risks and rewards of any
contractual obligations remain with the respective commissioner holding the contract.
All financial risks and rewards appropriate to the CCG are included within the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure.
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Expenditure

Assets

£'000

£'000

28,612

Liabilities

Income

£'000

-

Expenditure

£'000

-

£'000

-

27,172
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18 Related party transactions

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:
Employees of NHS Tower Hamlets CCG are required to disclose any relevant and material interests they may have in other organisations (related
parties). This is recorded in the Register of Interests.
The transactions listed below are payments made to the related parties declared by NHS Tower Hamlets CCG's Governing Body members (other than
payments to practices, other NHS bodies, and other government departments):
2020/21

Payments to
Related Party
£'000
164
23,489
8
303

Name
Bromley-by-Bow Partnership (Tower Hamlets CCG)
London Borough of Tower Hamlets
NHS Resolution
Peabody Trust

Receipts Amounts Amounts
from owed to due from
Related Related Related
Party
Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
6
3,673
1,505
2,120
-

The transactions listed below are payments made to those practices where one of the GPs or Partners of that practice is or has been a member of NHS
Tower Hamlets CCG's Governing Body during 2019-20. These payments include GMS/PMS contract and ad hoc payments, but exclude prescribing
payments:
Jubilee Street Practice
XX Place, St Andrews
St Andrews Health Centre

2,433
2,466
3,714

-

1
-

-

The following Department of Health and Social Care bodies had material transactions during 2020-21 with NHS Tower Hamlets CCG:
• Barts Health NHS Trust
• Barking, Havering & Redbridge University Hospitals NHS Trust
• East London NHS FT
• Guy's & St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust
• London Ambulance NHS Trust
• Homerton University Hospital NHS FT
• Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS FT
• NHS NEL Commissioning Support Unit
• North East London NHS Foundation Trust
• University College London Hospitals NHS FT
• Community Health Partnerships
• NHS Redbridge CCG
During 2020-21, NHS Tower Hamlets CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local
government bodies. The material transactions have been with:
• London Borough of Tower Hamlets
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18 Related party transactions (cont.)
2019/20

Payments to
Related Party
£'000
485
731
640
3
509
445
311
1
378
17,351

Name
Bromley by Bow Health Centres
City Wellbeing
Community Health Partnerships
Kings Fund
Mile End East and Bromley by Bow CIC
Queen Mary University of London
Peabody Trust
Royal College of General Practitioners
The Highway Network
Tower Hamlets GP Care Group CIC

Receipts Amounts Amounts
from owed to due from
Related Related Related
Party
Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
7
7
13
998
30

The transactions listed below are in relation to those practices where one of the GPs or Partner of that practice is or has been a member of NHS Tower
Hamlets CCG's Governing Body during 2019-20

Payments to
Related Party
£'000
1,762
3,286
2,115

Name
Jubilee Street Practice
St Andrews Health Centre
XX Place

Receipts Amounts Amounts
from owed to due from
Related Related Related
Party
Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
1
-

The following Department of Health and Social Care bodies had material transactions during 2020-21 with NHS Tower Hamlets CCG:
• Barts Health NHS Trust
• East London NHS FT
• Homerton University Hospital NHS FT
• Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS FT
• Imperial College Heatlhcare NHS Trust

• Barking, Havering & Redbridge University Hospitals NHS Trust
• Guys & St Thomas NHS FT
• London Ambulance NHS Trust
• NHS NEL Commissioning Support Unit
• University College London Hospitals NHS FT

NHS Tower Hamlets CCG is part of a Risk Share agreement across four of the North East London CCG's (City and Hackney CCG, Newham CCG, Tower Hamlets CCG and
Waltham Forest CCG). In 2019/20 NHS Tower Hamlets CCG paid £2.5 million to NHS Waltham Forest CCG, as part of the Risk Share agreement. The final revenue resource
limit values included in the 2019/20 annual accounts of each CCG reflect the outcome of the Risk-Share agreement
During 2019-20, NHS Tower Hamlets CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local
government bodies. The material transactions have been with:
• London Borough of Tower Hamlets
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19 Events after the end of the reporting period
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG was dissolved on 31 March 2020 having merged with NHS Barking & Dagenham, NHS City & Hackney, NHS Havering CCG, NHS Newham CCG, NHS
Redbridge CCG and NHS Waltham Forest CCG to establish NHS North East London CCG with effect from 1st April 2021. This followed approval by NHS England on the 9th November

The merger of CCG's within the NHS England 'group' is regarded as a 'transfer of function'. The DHSC Group Accounting Manual directs that such changes should be accounted for as
a 'transfer by absorption'. NHS North East London CCG will recognise the assets and liabilities received as at the date of transfer (1 April 2021) after taking into account inter company
transactions.
The closing balances of the CCGs to merge are shown in the following table:
NHS Barking &
Dagenham
CCG
£000

NHS City &
Hackney CCG

NHS Havering
CCG

NHS Newham
CCG

£000

£000

£000

NHS
Redbridge
CCG
£000

£000

NHS
Waltham
Forest CCG
£000

NHS Tower
Hamlets CCG

Properties, Plant and Equipment as at 31 March 2021
Intangibles as at 31 March 2021
Receivables as at 31 March 2021
Payables as at 31 March 2021
Provisions as at 31 March 2021
Bank overdraft as at 31 March 2021

546
(33,011)
(2,450)
(161)

46
1,157
(66,776)
(512)

944
(39,495)
(5,311)
(375)

932
12,634
(83,216)
(125)
(6,322)

620
113
2,664
(42,383)
(1,581)
(4,426)

28
13,280
(132,039)
(125)
(152)

28
4,708
(48,133)
(122)
(1,231)

General fund balance at 31 March 2021

(35,076)

(66,085)

(44,237)

(76,097)

(44,993)

(119,008)

(44,750)

2020-21
Target
730,417
n/a
706,928
n/a
n/a
6,423

2020-21
Performance
730,369
n/a
706,880
n/a
n/a
5,950

2019-20
Target
481,332
n/a
472,773
n/a
n/a
6,838

2019-20
Performance
480,481
n/a
471,922
n/a
n/a
5,566

20 Financial performance targets
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS Tower Hamlets CCG performance against those duties was as follows:

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
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